Fire Effects Following the Egley Fire Complex (OR, USA) in a Dry Ponderosa Pine Forest

A Thesis Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science with a Major in Natural Resources in the College of Graduate Studies University of Idaho by Jessie M. Dodge

Major Professor: Eva K. Strand, Ph.D. Committee Members: Andrew T. Hudak, Ph.D.; Stephen P. Cook, Ph.D. Department Administrator: Charles Goebel, Ph.D.

May 2019

AUTHORIZATION TO SUBMIT THESIS

This thesis of Jessie M. Dodge, submitted for the degree of Master of Science in Natural Resources and titled "Fire Effects Following the Egley Fire Complex (OR, USA) in a Dry Ponderosa Pine Forest," has been reviewed in final form. Permission, as indicated by the signatures and dates below, is now granted to submit final copies to the College of Graduate Studies for approval.

Major Professor:		Date:
5	Eva K. Strand, Ph.D.	
Committee Members:		Date:
	Andrew T. Hudak, Ph.D.	
		Date:
	Stephen P. Cook, Ph.D.	
Department		
Administrator:		Date:
	Charles Goebel, Ph.D.	

ABSTRACT

Background

Wildfire has played an important role in ponderosa pine (*Pinus ponderosa*) forests in the western United States. However, after Euro-American settlement, fire suppression efforts and change in land use led to a decrease in low severity surface fires only to be replaced with large, high severity fires across much of the range of dry ponderosa pine. Land managers have been using mechanical treatments to alter fuels in ponderosa pine (*Pinus ponderosa*) forests to mitigate fire behavior and high severity fire effects. Before the 2007 Egley Fire Complex, mechanical thinning, slash and pile burns, and understory burns were implemented as fuel reduction treatments in the dry ponderosa pine-dominated Malheur National Forest in eastern Oregon. To compare post-fire vegetation recovery between mechanical treatments and untreated control areas, 35 treated and untreated paired plots were sampled in 2016. Post-fire vegetation recovery was assessed at the 35 paired field sites by measuring tree density, seedling regeneration, understory plant response by functional group, and fuel loads. Functional groups included shrub, graminoid, forb, invasive species of interest (cheatgrass, and Canadian and bull thistle), and moss/lichen/fungi. To evaluate the long-term effects of wildfire on bee abundance and diversity, Japanese beetle traps were placed in seven unburned and seven high severity burned sites ten years (2017) after the wildfire. Post-fire flowering plant community (i.e. diversity and abundance for each species) was assessed and compared to the bee community to determine if there was a correlation between them. Sites were stratified by elevation, aspect, and the remotely sensed burn severity gradient represented by the delta Normalized Burn Ratio (dNBR). The intent of this study was to document to what extent tree density, seedling regeneration, understory plant community composition, understory bee community composition, and fuels change across the burn severity gradient and to quantify to what extent pre-fire fuel treatments affect burn severity and long-term vegetation recovery.

Results

Burn severity (dNBR) was lower in treated than untreated sites across the Egley Complex. Annual NBR trends showed that treated sites nearly recovered to pre-fire values by approximately three years post-fire, while untreated sites had a much slower recovery rate. Time since treatment and dNBR significantly affected tree canopy cover in 2008 and surface fuel loads in 2016. This suggests an increase in live tree canopy cover in areas that were treated recently pre-fire, likely due to reduced burn severity effects with decreased time since treatment, and an increase in fuels as burn severity and time since treatment increased. Live tree density was more affected by severity than by pre-fire treatment in either year, as was dead tree density one-year post-fire. None of the understory functional groups were affected by treatment or severity in 2008; in 2016 shrub, graminoid, forb, and invasive species cover were higher in high severity sites than low severity sites. Total fuel loads, dominated by 1000hour fuels, nine years post-fire were highest in untreated, high severity sites. Tree canopy cover and density of mature trees, saplings, and seedlings were reduced nine years post-fire compared to one-year post-fire across treatments and severity, whereas live and dead tree basal area, understory surface cover, and fuel loads increased over time. Bee, flowering plant, and flower abundance and diversity decreased over summer months, but tended to be higher in burned sites than unburned sites. Bee, plant, and flower community compositions significantly differed between summer months and burn severity. Bee abundance correlated strongly with plant and flower abundance, suggesting generalist pollinator species that could potentially be used to pollinate agricultural lands.

Conclusions

Pre-fire fuel treatments effectively lowered the occurrence of high severity wildfire, likely due to successful reduction of pre-fire tree and sapling density, which supports the implementation of fuel treatments to reduce fire effects in ponderosa pine forests. Further, this study suggests low severity wildfire can lower surface fuel accumulations while not overly increasing overstory tree mortality. The higher abundance and diversity of bee, plant, and flower species found within high burn severity sites compared to unburned sites also suggest the importance of fire in increasing abundance and diversity of ponderosa pine understory vegetation and demonstrates ecosystem resilience to wildfire.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This project was funded through three Joint Venture Agreements from the US Forest Service Rocky Mountain Research Station: 03-JV-11122065-279, #14-JV-11221633-112 (funded by JFSP project 14-1-02-27), and #17-JV-11221637-132. I want to thank the employees of the Forest Service Rocky Mountain Research Station, as well as students at the University of Idaho, who helped gather and enter 2008 field data (Christine Craig, Maike Holthuijzen and Joe Hulbert), 2016 (John Byrne, Sean McNeal, Eli Berman, Deborah Blanscet, and Maritza Hernandez), and 2017 field data (Justin Trujillo, Emily Mangini, and Caleb Ponczoch). Janet Braymen, Brian Austin, and Mike Bobbitt analyzed the initial burn severity, fuel treatment, and other GIS data. I also want to thank Beth Newingham, Christopher Bowman-Prideaux, Benjamin Spei, Samuel Wozniak, and Martha Schmidt for their friendly reviews and Benjamin Bright for his GIS and remote sensing help. I also want to give a special thanks to Dr. Penelope Morgan for her assistance in project development, 2008 field data collection, and her friendly review. Last, but not least, I especially want to thank Dr. Eva Strand, Dr. Andrew Hudak, Dr. Stephen Cook, and Darcy Hammond for helping me through every step in this project including data collection, data analyses, revisions, and stress management.

DEDICATION

Mom, I want to thank you for teaching me the beauty and importance of nature. Your passion for the outdoors has taught me the importance of exploration, preservation, and conservation.

Abstractiii Acknowledgments......v Table of Contentsvii List of Tables.....ix List of Figures xi List of Abbreviations......xiii Chapter 1: Introduction to Wildfire in Ponderosa Pine Forests 1 Chapter 2: Short- and Long-Term Effects of Ponderosa Pine Fuel Treatments Intersected by Landscape-level summary of treatment effects on burn severity 12 Chapter 3: Effects on bee and flowering plant communities in a ponderosa pine forest ten

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Statistical Analysis
Results
Abundance and richness
Diversity
Community Composition
Correlation among Bees and Plants/Flowers 48
Indicator species analysis
Additional Environmental Variables51
Discussion
Conclusion
Chapter 4: Management Implications
References
Appendix A Flowering plant species found in Malheur National Forest. Codes are from the
United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) plants data base (USDA, NRCS. 2019)73
Appendix B Bee species captured in the Malheur National Forest

List of Tables

Table 2.1. Regression models predicting percent tree canopy cover, understory green vegetation cover, total char cover, and total fuel loads (Mg/ha) measured in 2008 and 2016 as a function of one-year post-fire dNBR, time since treatment (years), and the interaction of one-year post-fire dNBR and time since treatment. Linear regression models were used for 2008 tree canopy cover, 2008 total char, and 2016 understory green vegetation cover and the degrees of freedom were 66 for all models. Beta regression models were used for 2008 understory green vegetation cover, 2016 tree canopy cover, and 2016 total char, number of iterations were 34 + 4 (Fisher scoring), 12 + 2, and 23 + 3 respectively. Generalized linear regressions with Gamma family were used for both 2008 and 2016 total fuel loads. Bold face denotes significance at the 95% confidence interval, and SE denotes standard error of the Table 2.2. Permutation ANOVA and Tukey multiple comparison test results for treatmentseverity interactions. Treat = treatment (two factors; treated or untreated), Sev = Severity (two factors; low or high), boldface denotes significance at the 95% confidence level, and dashes indicate no significant difference. Degrees of freedom for all permutation ANOVA tests were 1 for each predictor variable. Letters denote significant Tukey multiple comparisons (Tukey) Table 2.3. Blocked multi-response permutation procedure (MRBP) tests comparing 2008 variables to 2016 variables. Boldface P-values denotes significance at the 95% confidence level, whereas boldface A-values are above 0.3 (strong within group agreement), and S.E. denotes the standard error within each group. NPV=Non-photosynthetic (dead or dormant) Table 3.2. Mean and standard error (SE) bee abundance and richness in blue and yellow traps by month (June, July, and August) in unburned and burned sites and the paired Wilcoxon Rank Sum and Signed Rank test w-statistic and P-value. Boldface denotes significance at the Table 3.3. Mean and standard error (SE) of Shannon's diversity index, Simpson's diversity Index and Pielou's evenness measure for flowering plants (plants), flowers, and bees found in

Table 3.4. Blocked multi-response permutation procedure (MRBP) results between bee, plant
and flower communities and summer months (June, July, and August). Boldface denotes
significance at the 95% confidence interval 48
Table 3.5. Significant (at the 95% confidence interval) Indicator Species Analysis (ISA) of
bees, plants, and flowers between summer months
Table 3.6. Significant Indicator Species Analysis (ISA) of bee, plant, and flower communities
between burned and unburned sites within each summer month
Table 3.7. Significant Indicator Species Analysis (ISA) of bee communities between blue and
yellow (Y) trap colors within each summer month
Table 3.8. Permutation ANOVA results showing average monthly temperature and humidity
interactions between summer months and burn severity (high severity or unburned sites).
Boldface denotes significance at the 95% confidence level

List of Figures

Figure 2.1. Egley Complex located in eastern Oregon, showing A) areas that had been treated
pre-fire and B) distribution of 35 paired field sites overlaid on the classified delta Normalized
Burn Ratio (dNBR) burn severity map (Finco et al. 2012)
Figure 2.2. Field site layout (not drawn to scale) used at field sampling sites in A) 2008 and
B) 2016 (Hudak <i>et al.</i> 2011)
Figure 2.3. Burn severity class A) hectares and B) proportions summarized from delta
Normalized Burn Ratio (dNBR) values mapped by Monitoring Trends in Burn Severity
(MTBS) across the 2007 Egley Complex versus time since final fuels treatment. Numbers
within columns in B) indicate number of field sites sampled in each treatment year across
Monitoring Trends in Burn Severity (MTBS) burn severity classes, which were unavailable
when the sites were installed in 2008 (Finco et al. 2012)
Figure 2.4. LandTrendr time series of the Normalized Burn Ratio (NBR) values for the Egley
Fire Complex area from 2000 to 2016 for both A) untreated and B) treated sites. Column
graphs demonstrate percent canopy cover including overstory tree cover (hatched columns)
and surface green vegetation cover (unhatched columns). Standard error bars are additive for
both cover components. Note, there was only 1 untreated-unburned/low site according to the
Monitoring Trend in Burn Severity (MTBS) classification (Finco et al. 2012), hence there is
no error bar. Significance of Student's t-tests between severity groups shown above each
respective year; *, $P \le 0.05$
Figure 2.5. Density (stems/ha) of ponderosa pine trees, saplings, and seedlings for A) 2008
and B) 2016 contrasting treatment-severity groups. Letters shown above standard error bars
denote significant Tukey multiple comparisons between treatment and severity groups, $\mathbf{P} <$
0.05. Note that A) 2008 has a different scale than B) 2016
Figure 2.6. Mean percent surface cover by cover type for A) 2008 and B) 2016 contrasting
treatment-severity groups, NPV= non-photosynthetic (dead or dormant) vegetation Letters
shown above standard error bars denote significant Tukey multiple comparisons between
treatment and severity groups
Figure 2.7. Fuel loads (Mg/ha) for A) 2008 and B) 2016 contrasting treatment-severity
groups; T=treated, U=untreated. Standard error bars are for total surface fuels (all fuel

components added together). Significance of Tukey multiple comparisons test between Figure 3.1. Egley fire complex located in eastern Oregon, showing distribution of the Figure 3.4. Abundance of bees (A), plants (B), and flowers (C) during June, July and August. Lower and upper hinge are the 25th and 75th percentile, respectively. Middle hinge is the median. Lower whisker is the smallest observation \geq to lower hinge – 1.5 x (upper hinge – lower hinge) and the upper whisker is the largest observation \leq to upper hinge + (upper hinge - lower hinge). Letters above upper whisker indicate significance of Dunn's pairwise comparisons. Note, plant and flower abundance are shown for 10 m-2 instead of hectares to Figure 3.5. Abundance of bees in blue or yellow traps by month (June, July, and August) in unburned (0) and burned (4) sites. Lower and upper hinge are the 25th and 75th percentile, respectively. Middle hinge is the median. Lower whisker is the smallest observation \geq to lower hinge $-1.5 \times (\text{upper hinge} - \text{lower hinge})$ and the upper whisker is the largest observation \leq to upper hinge + (upper hinge – lower hinge). Letters above upper whisker Figure 3.6. Average monthly temperature (A), average monthly max temperature (B), average monthly min temperature (C), average monthly humidity (D), average monthly max humidity (E), average monthly min humidity (F) for 2017 summer months June, July, August. Letters Figure 3.7. Linear regression models predicting percent tree canopy cover as a function of

List of Abbreviations

- ANOVA Analysis of variance
- BARC Burned area reflectance classification
- $\operatorname{cm-centimeters}$
- CWD Coarse woody debris
- DBH Diameter at breast height
- dNBR differenced Normalized Burn Ratio
- FWD Fine woody debris
- GEE Google Earth Engine
- ha-hectares
- hr-hour
- ISA Indicator Species Analysis
- Landtrendr Landsat-based Detection of Trends in Disturbance and Recovery
- M-Meters
- Mg Megagrams
- MRBP -Blocked Multi-Response Permutation Procedure
- MRPP Multi-Response Permutation Procedure
- MTBS Monitoring Trends in Burn Severity
- NBR- Normalized Burn Ratio
- NPV- Non-Photosynthetic Vegetation
- perMANOVA permutation ANOVA
- T Treated
- U Untreated

CHAPTER 1: Introduction to Wildfire in Ponderosa Pine Forests

Wildfire has played an important role in ponderosa pine (*Pinus ponderosa* Lawson & C. Lawson) forests in the western United States. Prior to Euro-American settlement, the historic fire regime of ponderosa pine forests mostly consisted of high-frequency, low-severity fires (Cooper 1960; Allen *et al.* 2002; Agee and Skinner 2005), occasionally experiencing mixed-and high-severity fires (Weaver 1943; Swetnam and Baisan 1996). Severity here is defined as the amount of ecological change in vegetation and soil caused by fire (Morgan *et al.* 2001; Lentile *et al..* 2006; Keeley 2009). This historic fire regime would selectively kill established seedlings and saplings (Bradley *et al.* 1992), but rarely penetrated the thick bark enough to kill older ponderosa pine trees (Cooper 1960; McCune 1988). Ponderosa pine's thick bark and ability to self-prune their lower branches also makes it harder for fire to carry into the canopy (Bradley *et al.* 1992).

The historical habitat of a ponderosa pine forests is thought to have consisted of continuous mats of bunchgrasses that would sustain low-severity surface fires (Cooper 1960). The low-severity surface fire would create a negative feedback loop for shrubs and grasses (Fulé *et al.* 1997). Bunchgrasses like Sandberg bluegrass (*Poa secunda*), generally re-sprout after being top-killed (Pausas and Keeley 2014) by low-intensity fires (Ellsworth and Kauffman 2010). However, high fire intensity can decrease the percent cover of graminoids (Ellsworth and Kauffman 2010). After high-severity fires, shrubs can outcompete ponderosa pine seedlings and grasses after a fire, causing a vegetation shift from forest to shrub land (Savage and Mast 2005).

After Euro-American settlement, fire suppression efforts and change in land use,

including grazing, logging, and building roads, led to a decrease in low severity surface fires in many dry ponderosa pine forests (Covington and Moore 1994; Allen *et al.* 2002). Without the frequent, low severity fires, many dry ponderosa pine forests have become over-crowded (Cooper 1960) with accumulating ladder fuels, which can carry flames into the crown (Allen *et al.* 2002), leading to more severe wildfires (Morgan *et al.* 2001; Lentile *et al.* 2006; Keeley 2009). The increase in high severity wildfires has decreased many dry ponderosa pine forests fire resilience, in other words, their ability to recover to the same state afterwards (Holling 1973; Groffman *et al.* 2006)

CHAPTER 2: Short- and Long-Term Effects of Ponderosa Pine Fuel Treatments Intersected by the Egley Fire Complex (OR, USA)

Forthcoming in *Fire Ecology*

Introduction

Many dry ponderosa pine (Pinus ponderosa Lawson & C. Lawson) forests in the western United States frequently experienced natural thinning due to low-severity surface fires prior to Euro-American settlement (Cooper 1960; Allen *et al.* 2002; Agee and Skinner 2005). Established seedlings and saplings were often selectively killed by low-severity surface fires, reducing fuel buildups (Bradley *et al.* 1992), but heat from the low-intensity flames rarely penetrated the thick bark enough to kill older ponderosa pine trees (Cooper 1960; McCune 1988). Ponderosa pines ability to self-prune lower branches resists fire from reaching the tree bole, and their open, loosely arranged crowns aid in reducing crown (Bradley *et al.* 1992).

After Euro-American settlement, fire suppression efforts and change in land use, including grazing, logging, and road development led to a decrease in low severity surface fires across much of the range of dry ponderosa pine (Covington and Moore 1994; Allen *et al.* 2002; Hessburg *et al.* 2005). The absence of frequent, low-severity surface fires has led to an accumulation of ladder fuels that carry flames into the crown (Allen *et al.* 2002) causing higher severity fires, or more ecological change in vegetation and soil, than low severity fires (Morgan *et al.* 2001; Lentile *et al.* 2006; Keeley 2009). Thus, many dry ponderosa pine forests have experienced a decrease in fire resilience, defined as an ecosystem's ability to recover to the same state after a disturbance (Holling 1973; Groffman *et al.* 2006).

To reduce the size and severity of wildfires and restore fire resilience in ponderosa pine forests, many land managers have implemented fuel treatments, such as thinning and prescribed fire (Covington and Moore 1994; Fulé *et al.* 1997; Agee and Skinner 2005). When precommercial thinning, land managers focus on removing small diameter trees to reduce stand density and to increase canopy base heights to exceed the flame length of surface fires. For commercial thinning, land managers will harvest larger trees to generate income and break up horizontal tree canopy continuity. Prescribed surface fires are used to reduce surface fuels, small trees, and shrubs, much like the historical, low severity fire regimes of most ponderosa pine forests (Agee and Skinner 2005; Finney *et al.* 2005).

Thinning has been shown to effectively reduce burn severity in ponderosa pine ecosystems (Agee and Skinner 2005; Stephens *et al.* 2009; Hudak *et al.* 2011). Thinning of dense stands allows more sunlight to access the forest understory, generally increasing understory vegetation cover and diversity (Bartuszevige and Kennedy 2009a; Schwilk *et al.* 2009; Stephens *et al.* 2012c). However, tree removal reduces available nutrients that fires would recycle into the soil (Graham *et al.* 1999; Kaye *et al.* 2005). Thinning treatments tend to leave piles of slash that contribute to surface fuel loads and can increase burn severity in the event of a wildfire unless treated in a slash and pile burn (Graham *et al.* 1999; Hudak *et al.* 2011). Burning of these slash piles in wildland or prescribed fires can cause localized severe effects on soil patches, thereby altering soil characteristics, reducing soil microbiota and soil seed bank viability (Graham *et al.* 1999; Korb *et al.* 2004). Soil disturbances caused by thinning may also increase invasive species cover (Korb *et al.* 2004; Dodson and Fiedler 2006; Stephens *et al.* 2012c).

Prescribed fires are generally less costly than mechanical thinning and have been shown to be more effective at reducing surface fuels than mechanical treatments in multiple ecosystems (Schwilk *et al.* 2009; Bernau *et al.* 2018). The burning of surface fuels allows nutrients to be recycled into the soil and cueing recruitment of fire-resilient species(Stephens *et al.* 2012c). However, smoke hazards to urban populations and air quality (Ottmar *et al.* 2001), and liability concerns with fire escape into neighboring properties (Yoder *et al.* 2004) present significant barriers to prescribed fires in many areas (Stephens and Ruth 2005), making thinning treatments often preferred in the wildland urban interface (Kane *et al.* 2010).

Prescribed fires in combination with mechanical thinning have been shown to be most effective at reducing burn severity of subsequent wildfires (Agee and Skinner 2005; Finney *et al.* 2005; Stephens *et al.* 2009; Prichard *et al.* 2010; Hudak *et al.* 2011; Kalies and Yocom Kent 2016). However, treatment longevity and effectiveness vary by location. Stephens *et al.* (2012a) found that thinning followed by prescribed fire in a mixed conifer forest in Sierra Nevada was the most effective at reducing fire hazards (flame length and torching probability) for at least seven years post treatments, though they suggest timing prescribed fire treatments ten-years post-thinning treatments to potentially increase treatment effectiveness by 15-20 years. Prichard *et al.* (2010) found that thinning treatments in combination with prescribed burning in a mixed conifer forests was the most effective at reducing tree mortality during the Tripod Complex fires compared to no treatment and thinning alone whereas Fulé *et al.* (2005) found that thinning and burning treatments in a ponderosa pine-Gable oak (*Quercus gambelii* Nutt.) forest had minor effects on fuel loads five years post treatments. Thus, each ecosystem and site may have varied treatment longevity and effectiveness (Fulé *et al.* 2005; Fulé *et al.* 2007; Battaglia *et al.* 2008; Vaillant *et al.* 2009; Stephens *et al.* 2012a; Tinkham *et al.* 2016).

A common way to assess effectiveness of fuel treatments aimed at reducing fire severity across landscapes is using the Normalized Burn Ratio (NBR), a remotely-sensed index sensitive to vegetation, soil, and char reflectance (Key and Benson 2006; Hudak *et al.* 2007). Subtracting the NBR value of a post-fire satellite image from a pre-fire satellite image provides the differenced NBR (dNBR), widely regarded as a useful indicator of burn severity (van Wagtendonk *et al.* 2004; Key and Benson 2006). Prior studies have found dNBR is more influenced by the tree canopy (where present) than by ground conditions, typically defining high burn severity as overstory consumption by fire (Hudak *et al.* 2007; Lentile *et al.* 2009).

The increase in large wildfire frequency and area burned at high severity (Westerling *et al.* 2006; Littell *et al.* 2009; Abatzoglou and Williams 2016), as well as the cost invested in mechanical thinning (Gorte 2013), has prompted examination into the effectiveness of thinning (Graham *et al.* 1999; Fulé *et al.* 2007; Bartuszevige and Kennedy 2009a; Prichard *et al.* 2010; Tinkham *et al.* 2016). However, relatively few studies have investigated both short-and long-term ecological effects of pre-wildfire treatments on burn severity, understory vegetation recover, and fuel accumulation after wildfires (Fulé *et al.* 2005; Hudak *et al.* 2011; Stephens *et al.* 2012a). Understanding vegetation responses and fuel accumulations in response to burn severity post-wildfire on a long-term trajectory will assist land managers in prioritizing long-term fuel and fire management objectives. Therefore, our objectives were to 1) determine if pre-wildfire treatments lower burn severity (one-year post-fire dNBR); 2) evaluate relationships between one-year post-fire dNBR, years since treatment, and field-measured biophysical attributes one and nine years post-fire; 3) compare treated and untreated site pairs to better understand interactions between treatment and severity; and 4) assess

changes over time by comparing biophysical attributes measured in year one and re-measured in year nine post-fire across the Egley Complex.

Methods

Study Area

The study area was within the Malheur National Forest, approximately 55 km northwest of Burns, OR (43° 52' 50" N, 119° 38' 24" W). The Malheur National Forest occupies 688,000 hectares (ha) in the Blue Mountains of eastern Oregon and includes high desert grasslands, sagebrush (Artemisia spp.L.) steppe and juniper (Juniperus occidentalis Hook.) woodlands, ponderosa pine forests, and mixed conifer forests. Our study focused on the southern ponderosa pine forests of the Malheur National Forest. Mean monthly high temperature in the growing season (May through August) is 26°C and the mean monthly low temperature in winter (November through February) is -8°C. Mean annual rainfall precipitation is 279 mm (US Climate Data 2019) and mean annual snowfall precipitation is 889 mm, with the majority of precipitation accumulated between November and May and with less than 19 mm of precipitation accumulated between June and October. Elevation of study sites ranges from 1506 m to 1755 m above sea level. Common grass species included needlegrass (Achnatherum spp. P. Beauv.), squirreltail (Elymus elymoides (Raf.) Swezey), and Sandberg bluegrass (Poa secunda J. Presl). Forb species included common yarrow (Achillea millefolium L.), blue eyed Mary (*Collinsia* spp. Nutt.), and willowherb (*Epilobium* spp. L.). Invasives species included cheatgrass (Bromus tectorum L.), Canadian thistle (Cirsium arvense (L.) Scop.), and bull thistle (C. vulgare (Savi) Ten.). Snowbrush ceanothus (Ceanothus velutinus Douglas ex Hook.), creeping barberry (Mahonia repens (Lindl.) G. Don), and antelope bitterbrush (Purshia tridentata (Pursh) DC.) were the most common shrubs within the study area.

The Egley Complex, comprised of three lightning-ignited fires, burned approximately 56,802 ha (Figure 2.1) from 7 to 21 July 2007 under abnormally low precipitation and high temperatures for the area; total precipitation was 0.25 mm (usually around 10 mm of precipitation), the average high temperature was 34 °C (usual high temperature around 30 °C), and the average low temperature was 11 °C (usual low temperature around 8°C) in July 2007 (US Climate Data 2019). Prior to the Egley Complex, the Malheur National Forest

implemented fuel treatments for vegetation management and wildfire protection objectives beginning in 1985, with treatment units recorded as polygons in a Geographic Information System (GIS). Pre-fire silvicultural or fuel reduction treatments within the Egley Fire Complex perimeter included commercial harvests (7,280 ha), pre-commercial thinning (6,855 ha), slash and pile burns (6,853 ha), and understory prescribed burns (1,566 ha). Of the 42,459 ha of Malheur National Forest lands that burned in the Egley Complex, 19,233 ha (45.3%) had received some form of harvest, pre-commercial thinning, fuel, and/or fire treatment over the preceding 22 years dating back to 1985 (Figure 2.1A). Treatment units often had multiple entries; for instance, 668 of the 1041 treatment units intersected by the Egley Complex had been commercially harvested, thinned, and had slash piles burned, with the driving motivation being to achieve silvicultural objectives. Given the complexity imposed by multiple and interacting entries over a long range of years, we did not attempt to quantify separate effects of treatment types, but simply lumped together all lands within treatment units as "treated" to compare with untreated lands in our analysis. Three prior wildfires were also categorized as fuel treatments; the 1990 Squaw Flat Fire (540 ha), the 1990 Buck Springs Fire (8,485 ha), and the 1990 Pine Springs Basin Fire (28,790 ha, Figure 2.1A) that had previously burned on Malheur National Forest lands.



Figure 2.1. Egley Complex located in eastern Oregon, showing A) areas that had been treated pre-fire and B) distribution of 35 paired field sites overlaid on the classified delta Normalized Burn Ratio (dNBR) burn severity map (Finco *et al.* 2012).

Field Methods

Field sites were monumented and first characterized in the summer of 2008 (one-year postfire) and then re-measured in 2016 (nine years post-fire). Field procedures are similar to those described by Hudak *et al.* (2011). Each site consisted of a central plot and four additional quadrats situated orthogonally 30 m from the center plot and oriented to the prevailing slope (Figure 2). Field sites were established from May to July 2008 prior to the availability of the MTBS classification of burn severity. Therefore, a rapid response, Burn Area Remote Classification (BARC) map based on immediate post-fire dNBR values (Parsons and Orlemann 2002) was used as a guide to distribute field sites along the burn severity gradient. In the immediate post-fire BARC map, low burn severity corresponds to predominantly green (live) tree crowns, moderate burn severity corresponds to predominantly brown (scorched) tree crowns, and high burn severity corresponds to predominantly brown (scorched) tree crowns, and high burn severity corresponds to predominantly black (charred) tree crowns (Hudak *et al.* 2011). Paired treated/untreated sites (n=35 each) were distributed across the burn severity gradient at locations constrained by four criteria: 1) field assessment of burn severity; 2) year of final treatment to distribute sites across the range of time since treatment; 3) adjacency of treatment units to untreated sites having similar topographic slope, aspect, and older tree (pre-treatment) age structure (between 90 and 500 m apart); and 4) proximity to a navigable road. (Figure 2.2).



Figure 2.2. Field site layout (not drawn to scale) used at field sampling sites in A) 2008 and B) 2016 (Hudak *et al.* 2011).

At each site, overstory components (tree canopy cover, tree DBH, and tree density) and understory components (sapling and seedling density, surface cover, functional group understory species cover, and woody fuel loads) were measured. Tree canopy cover was estimated using a convex spherical densiometer facing the four cardinal directions around each plot. Tree density and basal area were measured at the center of the field site within a fixed radius of 11.3 m (1/25 ha) in 2008 or 8 m (1/50 ha) in 2016. Diameter at breast height (DBH, 1.37 m), status (live or dead), and species were recorded for each tree greater than 10 cm DBH.

Seedlings and sapling density (stems ha-1) were used to estimate tree regeneration. All conifer saplings and seedlings taller than 5 cm were tallied by species and status (live and dead) recorded in circular plots. Saplings were tallied within a 5.6 m radius (1/100 ha) for both sample years; seedlings in 2008 were tallied within a 2.5 m radius (1/500 ha), whereas seedlings in 2016 were tallied within a 5.6 m radius. Saplings were defined as taller than

breast height and DBH less than 10 cm, whereas conifers less than breast height were considered seedlings.

Percent cover of understory components was estimated within five 1-m2 quadrat at each site (Figure 2.2). Surface cover components included percent green vegetation, organic non-photosynthetic (dead or dormant) vegetation (NPV), mineral soil, rock, and the proportion of surface covers that had residual blackened carbon (char). Examples of NPV include woody debris, senesced grass, tree bark, litter, and duff. Due to low vegetation surface cover in 2008, understory vegetation cover was identified to functional groups and percent cover was estimated only within the 2.5 m radius understory center plot (Figure 2.2). Functional groups included shrub, graminoid, forb, invasive species of interest (cheatgrass, and Canadian and bull thistle), and moss/lichen/fungi.

Fuel loads in 2008 were estimated using Brown's transects (Brown 1974). Coarse woody debris (CWD; 1000-hr fuels) were measured in two 15 m transects laid along the slope on the upslope or downslope sides of the 5.6 m radius plot to prevent directional bias (Figure 2.2). Fine woody debris (FWD) were measured for each size class (1-hr, 10-hr, and 100-hr fuels) within the central 2 m section of each 15 m transect in 2008 and were converted to fuel loads (Mg ha-1) per Woodall and Monleon (2006) for ponderosa pine. In 2016, the photoload fuel sampling technique was used to estimate CWD and each FWD size class fractions, opposed to Brown's transects to speed field sampling (Keane and Dickinson 2007). Fine woody debris size class fractions were estimated within the 1 m2 quadrats at each plot, while CWD was estimated within a 5.6 m radius around the center plot. Litter and duff depths were measured with a ruler to the nearest 1 mm at each 1 m2 plot in both 2008 and 2016 and then used to calculate litter and duff fuel load (Mg ha-1: Stephens *et al.* 2004).

Remote Sensing Data

One-year post-fire dNBR values (burn severity) were obtained from the Monitoring Trends in Burn Severity (MTBS) program (Eidenshink *et al.* 2007). For the Egley Fire Complex, MTBS used Landsat 5 TM image from July 18, 2006 for the pre-fire image and an image from July 7, 2008 for the post-fire image to calculate dNBR. The MTBS thematic burn severity product binned the dNBR image into five thresholds: no data (-970, increased greenness (-150), low severity (100), moderate severity (215) and high severity (385; Eidenshink *et al.* 2007). In addition to dNBR, LandTrendr (Landsat-based Detection of Trends in Disturbance and Recovery, Kennedy *et al.* 2010) implemented in Google Earth Engine (GEE, (Gorelick *et al.* 2017; Kennedy *et al.* 2018) was used to observe vegetation change after the Egley Fire Complex. Landsat image composites (30 m spatial resolution) of summer NBR from 1984 through 2016 were created across the Egley Fire extent. NBR image composites were then input into the LandTrendr algorithm, which modeled pixel-wise trends and trajectories while eliminating noise, resulting in an annual times series of Landsat NBR images fitted to LandTrendr segments. GEE was used to create NBR composites and implement the LandTrendr algorithm (Kennedy *et al.* 2018). NBR time series at site locations were extracted for vegetation recovery analysis. To determine when NBR recovered to unburned/low levels at plot locations, we tested whether NBR distributions varied by burn severity with Student's t-tests for each year post-fire.

Statistical Analysis

Variables collected at all five quadrat locations per field site were aggregated to the site level. Due to non-normal distributions, a non-parametric blocked multi-response permutation procedure (MRBP) with Euclidean distance measure (PC-ORD v.7; McCune and Mefford 2016), blocked by treatment (treated or untreated), was used to determine differences in burn severity (one-year post-fire dNBR) between pre-fire fuel treatment sites and untreated sites post-fire (Objective 1) and for differences in biophysical attributes (i.e., tree canopy cover, understory green vegetation cover, total char cover, and total fuel loads) between 2008 and 2016 (Objective 4). An MRBP provides the chance-corrected within-group agreement (A), which is the likelihood of homogeneity within a group that occurs by chance. If A=1, all variables are homogenous within a group, whereas if A < 0, there is more heterogeneity within a group than expected by chance. If A = 0, then heterogeneity within a group equals what was expected by chance (McCune and Grace 2002).

To test for interacting effects of burn severity and time since treatment on biophysical attributes (Objective 2), linear regression models predicting select biophysical attributes were fit as a function of one-year post-fire dNBR, time since treatment (years), and their interaction (R Core Team 2013). Untreated sites were considered as having been treated in 1910, when widespread wildfires occurred, and thus as 97 years since treatment. Linear regression models

were fit using the Global Validation of linear models' assumptions (gvlma) package in R (Pena and Slate 2006). Data that failed normality and heteroscedasticity assumptions were modeled either using beta regression models if data were proportions (Cribari-Neto and Zeileis 2010) or generalized models if data were continuous.

Due to an insufficient number of treated sites that burned at high severity (n=3), we evaluated differences in overstory and understory components for the combined effects of treatment and burn severity (one-year post-fire dNBR) by grouping sites by treatment status (treated or untreated) and burn severity (unburned/low or moderate/high; Objective 3). The 4-class dNBR burn severity classification was simplified to two classes to differentiate sites with or without stand-replacing fire (dNBR values 61-250 for low burn severity and 251-753 for high burn severity). The classification resulted in four groups; treated sites that were unburned or burned at low severity (T-low, n=30), treated sites burned at moderate or high severity (T-high, n=5), untreated sites that were unburned or burned at low severity (U-low, n=11), and untreated sites burned at moderate or high severity (U-high, n=24). A permutation ANOVA with "Exact" permutations that generate all permutations of Y was used to test significant interactions of all variables between treatment and severity, which were non-normally distributed, and Tukey's multiple comparisons tests were used for post-hoc pairwise comparisons (R Core Team 2013).

Results

Landscape-level summary of treatment effects on burn severity

The MTBS-based dNBR classification of burn severity summarized across the entire Egley Complex showed that 26.7% (6,085 ha) of untreated lands (23,226 ha) burned with high severity, whereas only 12.9% (2,150 ha) of treated lands (19,233 ha) burned with high severity (Figure 2.3); thus, untreated lands were twice as likely as treated lands to have burned with high severity. The complete landscape analysis of the Egley Complex showed that the proportion of treated areas that burned at high severity increased with time since treatment (Figure 2.3B); i.e., treated areas >10 years old had a high burn severity proportion more similar to that of untreated areas, than did more recently treated areas <10 years old (Figure 2.3B). Zonal statistics in GIS were used to ensure minimal differences in elevation and slope between untreated (elevation: 1558 ± 74.8 m; slope: 7 ± 5.7 °) and treated (elevation: 1591 ± 70.5 m; slope: 7 ± 5.9 °) polygons.



Figure 2.3. Burn severity class A) hectares and B) proportions summarized from delta Normalized Burn Ratio (dNBR) values mapped by Monitoring Trends in Burn Severity (MTBS) across the 2007 Egley Complex versus time since final fuels treatment. Numbers within columns in B) indicate number of field sites sampled in each treatment year across Monitoring Trends in Burn Severity (MTBS) burn severity classes, which were unavailable when the sites were installed in 2008 (Finco *et al.* 2012).

Site level analysis of remotely-sensed data

In accordance with the landscape analysis, student's t-test on the landscape variables elevation, slope, and distance to road between treated and untreated sites (all P > 0.05), per our paired site sampling design. However, one-year post-fire burn severity (dNBR) was significantly lower in treated sites than in their paired untreated sites (MRBP P < 0.001, A = 0.27). LandTrendr-derived trajectories of NBR decreased sharply following the fire and gradually increased over time as vegetation recovered. Treated sites that burned at high severity had recovered to unburned/low NBR levels within four years post-fire (Student's t-test, P=0.052 in 2010, P=0.271 in 2011), whereas untreated sites that burned at moderate or high severity had still not recovered to unburned/low NBR levels nine years post-fire (Student's t-test, P=0.002, Figure 2.4A and B).

Linear regression models showed that total (live and dead) tree canopy cover also increased with time since treatment in 2008 (Table 2.1). The interaction between one-year post-fire dNBR and time since treatment was also a significant predictor of 2008 tree canopy cover; as dNBR and time since treatment increased, tree canopy cover decreased (Table 2.1). Tree canopy cover measured in 2016 was lower at sites with higher one-year post-fire dNBR values; in other words, sites that burned at high severity still had lower tree canopy cover nine years post-fire. Understory green vegetation cover significantly decreased with dNBR in 2008 but significantly, though slightly, increased as dNBR and time since treatment increased. In 2016, understory green vegetation cover increased as one-year post-fire increased. Total char increased with one-year post-fire dNBR both in 2008 and 2016, expectedly. Total fuel loads were not significantly predicted by one-year post-fire dNBR, time since treatment, or the interaction between the two in 2008 or in 2016. It is important to note that, though most linear models were significant, they had relatively low coefficients of determination (R2), therefore much of the variability is not being accounted for by the models (Table 2.1)



Figure 2.4. LandTrendr time series of the Normalized Burn Ratio (NBR) values for the Egley Fire Complex area from 2000 to 2016 for both A) untreated and B) treated sites. Column graphs demonstrate percent canopy cover including overstory tree cover (hatched columns) and surface green vegetation cover (unhatched columns). Standard error bars are additive for both cover components. Note, there was only 1 untreated-unburned/low site according to the Monitoring Trend in Burn Severity (MTBS) classification (Finco *et al.* 2012), hence there is no error bar. Significance of Student's t-tests between severity groups shown above each respective year; *, $P \le 0.05$

Table 2.1. Regression models predicting percent tree canopy cover, understory green vegetation cover, total char cover, and total fuel loads (Mg/ha) measured in 2008 and 2016 as a function of one-year post-fire dNBR, time since treatment (years), and the interaction of one-year post-fire dNBR and time since treatment. Linear regression models were used for 2008 tree canopy cover, 2008 total char, and 2016 understory green vegetation cover and the degrees of freedom were 66 for all models. Beta regression models were used for 2008 understory green vegetation cover, 2016 tree canopy cover, and 2016 total char, number of iterations were 34 + 4 (Fisher scoring), 12 + 2, and 23 + 3 respectively. Generalized linear regressions with Gamma family were used for both 2008 and 2016 total fuel loads. Bold face denotes significance at the 95% confidence interval, and SE denotes standard error of the estimate.

			200)8		2016				
(%) <i>(</i>	Predictor Variables	Estimate	SE	t	Р	Estimate	SE	Z	Р	
iopi	dNBR	0.008	0.016	0.491	0.625	-0.003	0.001	-2.623	0.009	
Can	Years	0.245	0.062	3.932	<0.001	0.003	0.005	0.649	0.516	
ee (dNBR* Years	-0.001	0.000	-2.944	0.004	-5.374E-08	0.000	-0.003	0.997	
T		Mode	l: F=8.6, P<	0.001 , R ² =0.	281	Model: $z = 6.1$, P < 0.001 , pseudo R ² = 0.42				
Understory Green (%)	Predictor Variables	Estimate	SE	Z	Р	Estimate	SE	t	Р	
	dNBR	-0.005	0.001	-4.187	0.000	0.048	0.018	2.657	<0.001	
	Years	-0.007	0.004	-1.731	0.084	-0.034	0.068	-0.491	0.625	
	dNBR* Years	3.652E-05	0.000	2.376	0.018	-1.81E-04	0.000	-0.806	0.423	
	Model: $z = 5.5$, P <0.001, pseudo R ² = 0.44 Model: F=5.3, P = 0.003, R ² =						0.003 , R ² =0).193		

		2008 2016				16				
(%)	Predictor Variables	Estimate	SE	t	Р	Estimate	SE	Z	Р	
Ial	dNBR	0.083	0.023	3.635	<0.001	0.003	0.001	2.849	0.004	
5	Years	0.11	0.087	1.265	0.210	0.004	0.004	0.977	0.328	
Ola	dNBR* Years	-3.65E-04	0.000	-1.271	0.208	-1.829E-06	0.000	-0.153	0.878	
-		Model:	F=12.1, P <	< 0.001, R ² =0).356	Model: $z = 5.5$, P < 0.001 , pseudo R ² = 0.26				
	Predictor Variables	Estimate	SE	t	Р	Estimate	SE	t	Р	
	dNBR	9.284E-05	0.000	0.618	0.539	3.786E-05	0.000	0.919	0.362	
/ha	Years	9.186E-06	0.000	0.022	0.982	1.243E-04	0.000	1.022	0.310	
Mg	dNBR* Years	-1.177E-06	0.000	-0.711	0.480	-8.221E-07	0.000	-1.824	0.073	
\bigcirc		Null deviance	: 82.234 on	68 degrees o	of freedom,	Null deviance: 33.465 on 69 degrees of				
		Residual deviance: 79.626 on 65 degrees of				freedom, Residual deviance: 27.429 on 66				
			freed	lom		degrees of freedom				

Total Fuel Loads Total Char (%)

17

Treatment and burn severity effects on biophysical attributes

All live trees, saplings, and seedlings sampled in both 2008 and 2016 were ponderosa pine, apart from two juniper saplings recorded in 2008. Tree canopy cover in 2008 was affected by severity and the interaction between treatment and severity (both $P \le 0.034$, both $F \ge 4.7$), with untreated sites that burned at low severity $(53.2 \pm 4.3\% \text{ [mean } \pm \text{SE]})$ having significantly more canopy cover than treated sites that also burned at low severity (38. \pm 1.9%) or untreated sites that burned at high severity ($36 \pm 2.6\%$; both P ≤ 0.005). In 2016, tree canopy cover was only affected by severity (P < 0.001, F = 17.3), where sites that burned at low severity had higher canopy cover (treated: 33.1 ± 3.0 %, untreated: 38.6 ± 4.9 %,) than sites that burned at high severity (treated: 9.8 ± 6.0 %, untreated: 16.7 ± 4.3 %,), regardless of treatment (all $P \le 0.045$). Live tree basal area in 2008 did not differ between treatments or severity, but it was affected by severity in 2016 (P<0.001, F = 13.7); sites that burned at low severity had more live basal area (treated: $12.4 \pm 2.1 \text{ m}2$ /ha untreated $20.6 \pm 1.1 \text{ m}2$ ha-1) than untreated sites that burned at high severity (both P ≤ 0.005 , 1.6 \pm 5.3 m2 ha-1). Dead tree basal area in 2008 was also influenced by severity (P=0.008, F=7.4): dead tree basal area was higher in untreated sites that burned at high severity $(2.2 \pm 0.1 \text{ m}2 \text{ ha-1})$ than in sites that burned at low severity (treated: $1.0 \pm 0.3 \text{ m}2$ /ha, untreated: $0.3 \pm 0.4 \text{ m}2$ ha-1, both P ≤ 0.035).

Live tree density in 2008 was affected by severity and the interaction between treatment and severity (both $P \le 0.004$, both $F \ge 8.6$), and in 2016 live tree density was affected by severity, treatment, and their interaction (all $P \le 0.008$, all $F \ge 8.8$); untreated sites that burned at low severity had higher live tree density than all other sites in both years (Figure 2.5). Dead tree density in 2008 was only affected by severity (P<0.001, F=46.2); being significantly higher in high severity burned sites than low severity burned sites, regardless of treatment (P < 0.001, Figure 2.5A). Live sapling density in 2008 did not vary between sites but in 2016 it was strongly influenced by treatment, severity, and the interaction between the two (all $P \le 0.016$, all $F \ge 7.3$), being highest in untreated sites that burned at low severity (Figure 2.5). Dead sapling density in 2008 was only affected by treatment (P < 0.001, F=17.0); being higher in untreated sites than treated, regardless of severity (P = 0.002, Figure 2.5A). In 2016, dead sapling density was influenced by treatment, severity, and their interaction (all $P \le 0.02$, all $F \ge 5.6$), being highest in untreated sites that burned at low severity (Figure 2.5B). Only dead seedling density in 2016 was influenced by severity (P = 0.014, F = 6.4) however, Tukey multiple comparisons tests showed no differences in live or dead seedling density by treatment or severity in 2008 or 2016 (Figure 2.5).





Combined pre-fire treatment and severity effects on ground surface cover fractions varied between years. Understory green vegetation cover in 2008 was only affected by severity (P < 0.001, F = 12.0); being significantly higher in low severity sites than high severity sites, regardless of treatment (Figure 2.6A). In 2016, understory green vegetation cover was affected by treatment and severity (both $P \le 0.025$, both $F \ge 5.2$), however, the trend was reversed from 2008; sites that burned with low severity had significantly lower green vegetation cover than treated that burned at high severity (Figure 2.6B). Nonphotosynthetic vegetation (NPV) in 2008 and 2016 was affected by treatment and severity (in 2008, both P \leq 0.001, both F \geq 11.6; in 2016, both P \leq 0.028, both F \geq 5.0); being significantly reduced by treatment and high severity with untreated sites that burned at low severity have the highest NPV (Figure 2.6A). Both treatments and severity affected soil and rock cover in 2008 (both P < 0.001, both F \geq 12.8), with treatments and high severity causing more soil and rock exposure, though not detectable in 2016 (Figure 2.6). Total char cover in both sample years was only affected by severity (both P < 0.001, $F \ge 7.7$); being higher in sites that burned at high severity than low severity regardless of treatment in 2008 (Figure 2.6A) and untreated sites that burned at high severity than both treated and untreated sites that burned at low severity in 2016 (Figure 2.6B).

Cover of understory vegetation functional groups were not significantly affected by treatment or severity in 2008 (see Table 2.2 for statistics). However, in 2016, shrub and graminoid cover were affected by treatment and severity; treated sites that burned at high severity had higher shrub cover than sites that burned with low severity, whereas graminoid cover was higher in sites that were untreated and burned with high severity than sites that burned at low severity (Table 2.2). Forb and invasive cover in 2016 were both affected by burn severity; forbs were higher in untreated sites that burned with high severity than untreated sites that burned with low severity (Table 2.2). Forb and invasive species cover was higher in untreated sites that burned with high severity than untreated sites that burned with high severity than sites that burned with low severity (Table 2.2). Moss/lichen/fungi cover significantly decreased as burn severity increased, though was unaffected by treatment (Table 2.2)



Figure 2.6. Mean percent surface cover by cover type for A) 2008 and B) 2016 contrasting treatment-severity groups, NPV= non-photosynthetic (dead or dormant) vegetation Letters shown above standard error bars denote significant Tukey multiple comparisons between treatment and severity groups.

Table 2.2. Permutation ANOVA and Tukey multiple comparison test results for treatment-severity interactions. Treat = treatment (two factors; treated or untreated), Sev = Severity (two factors; low or high), boldface denotes significance at the 95% confidence level, and dashes indicate no significant difference. Degrees of freedom for all permutation ANOVA tests were 1 for each predictor variable. Letters denote significant Tukey multiple comparisons (Tukey) between treatment and severity groups.

	Permutation ANOVA						Tukey Multiple Comparisons				
		2008		2016			2008		2016		
	Predictor Variables	F	Р	F	Р	Groups	$Mean \pm SE$	Tukey	$Mean \pm SE$	Tukey	
	Treat	1.6	0.215	8	0.006	T-low	0.9 (0.4)	-	5.8 (1.6)	b	
Shrub Cover (%)	Sev	3.3	0.074	10.9	0.002	T-high	0 (0)	-	19.1 (8.6)	а	
	Treat:Sev	0.6	0.445	1.6	0.216	U-low	2.6 (1.8)	-	1.2 (0.5)	b	
						U-high	0.4 (0.2)	-	7.2 (2.1)	ab	
	Treat	0.5	0.5	0.2	0.634	T-low	5.7 (1.3)	-	13.2 (1.2)	b	
Graminoid	Sev	3.1	0.085	4	0.049	T-high	0.2 (0.2)	-	12.2 (1.5)	b	
Cover (%)	Treat:Sev	1.2	0.282	6.4	0.014	U-low	4.9 (1.8)	-	9.1 (1.3)	b	
						U-high	3.6 (1.3)	-	18.1 (1.6)	а	
	Treat	0.2	0.624	1.5	0.223	T-low	8.7 (1.6)	-	11 (1.1)	ab	
Forb Cover (%)	Sev	2	0.161	4.3	0.043	T-high	2.2 (0.9)	-	12.4 (2.4)	ab	
	Treat:Sev	1	0.313	1.5	0.23	U-low	7.3 (3.4)	-	6.8 (1.2)	а	
						U-high	6.2 (1.7)	-	12.4 (1.2)	b	
	Treat	0.4	0.51	0.2	0.672	T-low	0 (0)	-	1.2 (0.4)	а	
Invasive	Sev	0.4	0.51	9.6	0.003	T-high	0 (0)	-	4.7 (2.5)	ab	
Cover (%)	Treat:Sev	0.4	0.51	0	0.996	U-low	0 (0)	-	0.7 (0.5)	ab	
						U-high	0.3 (0.3)	-	4.2 (1.1)	b	
	Treat	0	0.874	2.3	0.135	T-low	2.5 (1.7)	-	2.2 (0.3)	-	
Moss/Lichen/	Sev	1	0.315	4	0.049	T-high	0.2 (0.2)	-	1.7 (0.4)	-	
Fungi Cover	Treat:Sev	0	0.892	1.1	0.297	U-low	2.5 (1.8)	-	3.7 (1)	-	
(/~)						U-high	0.8 (0.4)	-	1.9 (0.3)	-	

Total fuel loads (1000-hr, 100-hr, 10-hr, 1-hr, litter and duff) were not affected by either treatment or severity in 2008 or 2016. However, CWD in 2016 was affected by severity and the interaction between treatment and severity (both $P \le 0.038$, $F \ge 4.4$); being higher in untreated sites that burned with high severity than treated or untreated sites that burned with low severity (both $P \le 0.007$, Figure 2.7B). Fine woody debris in 2008 were similarly influenced by severity (P=0.001, F =11.6), being higher in untreated sites that burned with low severity than sites that burned with high severity (both $P \le 0.031$, Figure 2.7A). Fine woody debris in 2016 were affected by severity and treatment (all $P \le 0.034$, all $F \ge 7.3$); untreated sites that burned with low severity had higher FWD loads than all other sites (all $P \le 0.040$, Figure 2.7B).



Figure 2.7. Fuel loads (Mg/ha) for A) 2008 and B) 2016 contrasting treatment-severity groups; T=treated, U=untreated. Standard error bars are for total surface fuels (all fuel components added together). Significance of Tukey multiple comparisons test between treatment-severity groups: *, P < 0.05.

Changes over time

All variables measured in 2008 significantly differed from variables measured in 2016 except for dead seedling density and duff (see Table 2.3 for statistics). Tree canopy cover and density were significantly reduced over time with fairly high within group agreement whereas tree
basal area significantly increased over time, though within group agreement was low (Table 2.3) Surface cover, cover of understory functional groups, and fuel loads also increased significantly over time (Table 2.3), as would be expected nine years post-fire. All surface covers, except NPV, had high within group agreement, whereas cover of understory functional groups and fuels had fairly low within group agreement, except for 1-hr fuels and litter which both had high within group agreement.

Table 2.3. Blocked multi-response permutation procedure (MRBP) tests comparing 2008 variables to 2016 variables. Boldface P-values denotes significance at the 95% confidence level, whereas boldface A-values are above 0.3 (strong within group agreement), and S.E. denotes the standard error within each group. NPV=Non-photosynthetic (dead or dormant) vegetation; CWD=coarse woody debris.

Variable Description	Р	Α	2008 Mean	2016 Mean	
			(S.E.)	(S.E.)	
Tree Canopy Cover (%)	<0.001	0.255	40.08(1.56)	26.68(3.19)	
Live Tree Basal Area (m ² ha ⁻¹)	<0.001	0.115	2.19(0.34)	9.54(1.14)	
Dead Tree Basal Area (m ² ha ⁻¹)	<0.001	0.063	1.34(0.2)	5.57(0.67)	
Live Tree Density (stems ha ⁻¹)	<0.001	0.214	298.57(42.1)	140.71(16.82)	
Dead Tree Density (stems ha ⁻¹)	<0.001	0.162	250(36.33)	52.86(6.32)	
Live Sapling Density (stems ha ⁻¹)	0.036	0.012	104.29(49.25)	40(4.78)	
Dead Sapling Density (stems ha ⁻¹)	<0.001	0.181	994.29(176.2)	68.57(8.2)	
Live Seedling Density (stems ha ⁻¹)	0.001	0.027	571.43(318.72)	236.43(28.26)	
Dead Seedling Density (stems ha ⁻¹)	0.081	0.008	600(392.69)	7.14(0.85)	
Green Cover (%)	<0.001	0.488	5.54(0.68)	29.39(3.51)	
NPV Cover (%)	0.003	0.052	49.74(2.67)	58.41(6.98)	
Soil and Rock Cover (%)	<0.001	0.421	40.7(2.66)	12.0(1.19)	
Total Char Cover (%)	<0.001	0.675	59.69(2.31)	7.34(0.88)	
Moss, Lichen, and Fungi Cover (%)	<0.001	0.122	1.76(0.78)	2.31(0.28)	
Shrub Cover (%)	<0.001	0.106	0.94(0.35)	6.53(0.78)	
Graminoid Cover (%)	<0.001	0.356	4.47(0.77)	14.15(1.69)	
Forb Cover (%)	<0.001	0.117	7.14(1.05)	10.92(1.31)	
Invasive Cover (%)	<0.001	0.151	0.1(0.09)	2.42(0.29)	
Total Fuel Loads (Mg ha ⁻¹)	<0.001	0.094	17.98(2.39)	30.07(3.59)	
Fine Fuel Loads (Mg ha ⁻¹)	<0.001	0.110	7.21(0.72)	11(1.31)	
CWD (Mg ha ⁻¹)	0.002	0.053	10.78(3.19)	19.07(2.28)	
100hr fuels (Mg ha ⁻¹)	0.008	0.034	1.69(0.42)	1.31(0.16)	
10hr fuels (Mg ha ⁻¹)	0.001	0.055	0.66(0.12)	1.16(0.14)	
1hr fuels (Mg ha ⁻¹)	<0.001	0.410	0.02(0)	0.32(0.04)	
Litter (Mg ha ⁻¹)	<0.001	0.404	1.68(0.22)	6.08(0.73)	
Duff (Mg ha ⁻¹)	0.052	0.019	3.16(0.41)	2.14(0.26)	

Discussion

Most treated sites burned at low severity, reflecting the results of previous research that found that pre-fire fuel reduction treatments in fire-suppressed dry ponderosa pine forests reduce burn severity (Agee and Skinner 2005; Stephens *et al.* 2009; Fulé *et al.* 2012). Burn severity effects over time were successfully observed by LandTrendr analysis, with the most pronounced post-fire changes observed in untreated-high severity sites, which showed only a gradual increase and had still not recovered to pre-fire NBR levels nine years post-fire; NBR increased more rapidly in treated sites that burned at high severity, and had recovered to unburned/low NBR levels within four years after fire. Kennedy *et al.* (2010) also found that LandTrendr time series were effective at capturing disturbances and vegetation recovery in dry ponderosa pine forests in Washington and Oregon. Using LandTrendr, pre- and post-disturbance vegetation trends can be consistently monitored on a landscape level through time with more detail than is commonly feasible with field monitoring crews. However, field monitoring crews are critical for both interpreting and validating remotely-sensed data.

Biophysical attributes measured in 2008 and re-measured in 2016 were predicted by one-year post-fire dNBR, the strongest relationship being with tree canopy cover, similar to the findings of prior studies (Hudak et al. 2007; Lentile et al. 2009). Understory variables, except total fuel loads, were also predicted by dNBR, most notably total char cover. Lentile et al. (2009) found similar results after the 2000 Jasper Fire in the ponderosa pine dominated Black Hills of South Dakota, though percent live tree canopy cover was the most significant predictor of one-year post-fire dNBR in their study. What is notable about our study is that char cover was significantly predicted by the dNBR nine years post-fire, though the coefficient of determination was relatively low. This reinforces Lentile et al.'s (2009) findings and indicates that char cover can still be found in burned areas nine years post-fire, more notably in areas that burned at high severity, and thus can be used as an indicator of burn severity over time. One general rule of thumb used by managers for the longevity of treatment effectiveness is that treatments tend to last for 10-15 years (Agee and Skinner 2005). Most of the treated sites we observed were treated between one to twenty-one years prior to the Egley Complex yet were still successful at reducing burn severity in the area compared to untreated sites. However, Prichard et al. (2010) found higher burn severity in ponderosa pine stands that had been recently thinned (15 years pre-fire) but where surface fuels had not yet been treated, as did Hudak *et al.* (2011b) in cold mixed conifer forest stands thinned the previous year but with fuel piles still remaining. This highlights the importance of surface fuel treatments in addition to thinning treatments. The success of fuel reduction treatments at reducing high severity in the Malheur National Forest might be because most of the treatment units intersected by the Egley Fire Complex (668 of 1041) had received multiple treatment entries, thus increasing treatment effectiveness.

Live and dead tree and sapling density were significantly affected by treatments but or dead tree basal area were not. The lack of basal area trends is likely because pre-commercial thinning treatments usually remove small diameter trees, which contribute little to overall tree basal area. Areas that burned at high severity, however, did reduce live tree basal area in both sample years and dead tree basal area in 2008. The lack of differences by treatment and severity found in standing dead tree basal area and tree density in 2016 can be attributed to many dead trees in high severity sites having fallen and become downed woody fuels, as previously discussed. Tree canopy cover, live and dead tree density, and live and dead sapling density all decreased over time, but tree basal area, both live and dead, increased over time, realizing management objectives of decreasing density and increasing tree basal area to improve fire resilience. However, it is possible that the smaller sampling plot used in 2016 (8 m radius instead of 11.3 m radius) led to reduced tree density and basal area measured in 2016 compared to 2008.

Seedling density, though, did not differ by treatment or severity in either sample year. The lack of differences between treatment and severity might be attributed to the amount of variability between untreated sites that burned at low severity. In 2016, though, the lack of differences seen between treatment and severity might be explained by post-fire planting efforts that took place between May 2010 and April 2015. Ten out of the seventy sites sampled had seedlings planted post-fire: four treated and six untreated. Eleven out of our seventy sites had an average distance to seed source over 60 m (unpublished data), where we would expect lower seedling density due to lack of a seed source (Kemp *et al.* 2016), but seven of these sites had been planted. This indicates a successful management decision to plant ponderosa pine seedlings in areas where conifer regeneration would have been slow, if

existent. The significant decrease in live seedling density from 2008 to 2016, might be attributable to reduced overstory protection of seedlings from drought, frost heaving, or other environmental stress (Schubert 1974).

The NPV cover fraction that includes both litter, duff, and FWD, likely was not completely consumed at untreated sites that burned at low severity and then accumulated from one-year post-fire to nine years post-fire. On the other hand, treated sites that burned with high severity had the lowest NPV cover, more exposed soil and rock cover, and less tree canopy cover, allowing vegetation to grow faster and more abundantly (Bartuszevige and Kennedy 2009b; Schwilk *et al.* 2009; Stephens *et al.* 2012b). Other studies have shown that thinning can cause soil disturbances (Korb *et al.* 2004; Stephens *et al.* 2012b), which might explain the higher soil and rock cover found in treated sites in 2008.However thinning has also been shown to increase FWD (Agee and Skinner 2005; Stephens *et al.* 2009) which may have been consumed in treated sites that burned at high severity, creating more soil and rock exposure (Graham *et al.* 1999; Hille and Stephens 2005).

Understory vegetation functional groups followed similar patterns as surface cover materials. The only functional group that was affected by severity in 2008 was shrub cover, which was higher in sites that burned with low severity than high severity. It is not uncommon for forb, graminoid, and shrub cover to decrease one- to three-years post-fire (Metlen et al. 2004; Collins et al. 2007; Knapp et al. 2007; Dodson et al. 2008) however, some studies have shown increases in understory vegetation cover (Armour et al. 1984; Moore et al. 2006; Ellsworth and Kauffman 2010). Metlen and Fiedler (2006) found that native plant cover was significantly lower initially post-fire (same year as the prescribed burn) than unburned sites, however found no differences in cover one- to three- years between burned sites and unburned sites in ponderosa pine/Douglas-fir forest near Missoula, MT. Armour et al. (1984) found that forb, graminoid, and shrub cover steadily increased one to three years following a prescribed fire in a ponderosa pine forest, with shrubs having the highest percent cover in sites that burned at high intensity. We found similar results nine years post-fire; with higher percent cover of shrub, graminoid, and forbs in sites that burned at high severity than sites that burned at low severity. The increase in percent cover of understory functional groups in high severity burned sites nine years post-fire suggests either vegetation

recovery or re-colonization within high severity burned sites in between sample years, trends which also apply to green surface cover, though the change in vegetation field collections methods may also account for increases seen. The increase in cover of all understory functional groups from 2008 to 2016, and the increasing trend of LandTrendr-derived NBR from 2008 to 2016 (Figure 2.4), indicative of vegetation cover, suggests vegetation recovery as well.

In 2016, we also found that untreated sites that burned at high severity had more invasive cover than sites that burned at low severity. Treatments have been shown to increasing invasive cover (Korb *et al.* 2004; Dodson and Fiedler 2006; Collins *et al.* 2007; Dodson *et al.* 2008; Stephens *et al.* 2012b) as well as high burn severity (Turner *et al.* 1997; Caprio *et al.* 1999; Keeley *et al.* 2003; Keeley 2006). Though treatments have been shown to increase soil disturbance leading to an increase in invasive cover (Korb *et al.* 2004; Stephens *et al.* 2012b), we found that high severity fire, which burned mostly in untreated sites, led to a higher cover of invasives than treatments.

Wildfires have been shown to cause vegetation shifts from forested to non-forested vegetation types (Savage and Mast 2005; Crotteau *et al.* 2013; Dodson and Root 2013; Coop *et al.* 2016). Savage and Mast (2005) found that in southwestern US ponderosa pine forests, high severity sites experienced a vegetation shift from ponderosa pine stands to shrub-dominated patches of pointleaf manzanita (*Arctostaphylos pungens* Kunth). One of the dominate shrubs in the Malheur National Forest is snowbrush ceanothus, and we found higher shrub cover particularly in treated sites that burned with high severity Gratkowski (1962) found that snowbrush ceanothus seeds are germinated by heat and Weiner *et al.* (2016) also found snowbrush ceanothus cover to be higher in areas that burned with high severity in sagebrush steppe and western juniper woodlands.

Fuel loads, while higher in low severity sites than high severity sites in 2008, were highest in sites that burned with high severity in 2016. By 2016, sites that experienced high tree mortality (high burn severity) had more downed woody debris accumulation (e.g., fallen snags) than low severity burned sites. Thus, higher surface fuel accumulations were not apparent after just one year but were after nine years. Other studies have shown tree mortality caused by high severity wildfire becoming heavy surface fuel accumulations at least three years post-fire as well (Passovoy and Fulé 2006; Roccaforte *et al.* 2012; Stevens-Rumann *et al.* 2012). The lack of differences found in fuel loads between treated sites that burned at high severity and both treated and untreated sites that burned at low severity suggests that the Egley Fire Complex, following thinning efforts, lowered surface fuels much like a prescribed fire would have. It is important to note that fuel estimates were collected using slightly modified Brown's transects in 2008 (Brown 1974) and photoloads in 2016 (Keane and Dickinson 2007). We opted for the newer, photoload method (Keane and Dickinson 2007) of estimating surface fuel loads in 2016 to speed field sampling, and considering more recent research that showed the Brown (1974) method may fail to capture inherently high fuels variability in natural fuel beds (Keane *et al.* 2012; Vakili *et al.* 2016). However, Sikkink and Keane (2008) found photoload measurements to overestimate fuel loads (both fine and coarse fuels), especially when a site had high fuel loads (>2 kg m-2) in montane forests, which could be occurring here.

It is widely believed that with the past century of fire suppression, the accumulation of fuels in ponderosa pine forests has led to the increase in large, high severity fires seen today (Kilgore 1981; Covington and Moore 1994; Allen *et al.* 2002)(Kilgore 1981; Covington and Moore 1994; Allen *et al.* 2002). While fuel loads in our study did significantly increase from 2008 to 2016, high fuel loads were mostly in untreated sites that burned with high severity. This suggests that the Egley Fire Complex successfully reduced fuel loads for up to nine years post-fire, especially in areas that had been treated pre-fire and burned with low severity and may have met many objectives that Malheur National Forest managers hope to achieve from prescribed fire.

Conclusions

Mechanical fuel treatments implemented one to twenty-one years pre-fire were effective at reducing burn severity within a large wildfire. LandTrendr was an effective tool for monitoring vegetation recovery post-fire, and regression models of one-year post-fire dNBR significantly predicted biophysical attributes, both in 2008 and 2016, except total fuel loads. The interaction between time since treatment and one-year post-fire dNBR significantly predicted one-year post-fire tree canopy and understory vegetation cover; as burn severity (one-year post-fire dNBR) and time since fire increased, one-year post-fire tree canopy and understory green vegetation cover decreased.

Treatments did not decrease tree canopy cover and basal area as much as burn severity did in 2008, however, treatments did reduce density of live trees and saplings. The lower tree and sapling density in pre-fire treated areas likely resulted in the significant reduction in burn severity on treated sites compared to untreated sites. Understory shrub, graminoid, forb, and invasive species cover measured nine years post-fire were higher in sites that burned with high severity, as a result of strong vegetation recovery or re-colonization in those sites. Fuel loads in 2016 were higher at untreated sites that burned with high severity than all other sites, including treated sites that burned at high severity, indicating that mechanical treatments, in conjunction with reducing burn severity, reduced surface fuel loads nine years post-fire.

The decrease in tree canopy cover and density of trees and saplings along with the increase in tree basal area from 2008 to 2016 reflects management objectives to reduce fuels via thinning small diameter trees while increasing canopy base height to increase fire resilience within the forest. Fuel loads measured in 2016 across the Egley Complex were higher than fuels measured in 2008, indicating post-fire fuel accumulation and suggesting a need for a repeated understory fuel treatment. These results support the implementation of fuel treatments to reduce fire effects in ponderosa pine forests and suggest that low severity wildfire can accomplish fuel reduction treatment objectives while not overly impacting overstory tree mortality.

CHAPTER 3: Effects on bee and flowering plant communities in a ponderosa pine forest ten years after a major wildfire event

Introduction

Bees are the most important insect pollinators for many flowering plant species in the United States (Ollerton *et al.* 2011; Winfree *et al.* 2011), being the primary pollinator for many natural (Tependino 1979; Biesmeijer *et al.* 2006; Brosi and Briggs 2013) and managed systems in the US (Delaplane and Mayer 2000; Klein *et al.* 2007). In the United Sates alone, 130 agricultural plants are bee pollinated (McGregor 1976). Honey bees (*Apis mellifera*) are the primary managed pollinator for agriculture in the United States, estimating to contribute US\$9 billion to US agriculture (Klein *et al.* 2007), however there are many native, wild bee pollinators that also contribute substantially to crops (Delaplane and Mayer 2000; Klein *et al.* 2007). The success of long-term stability in cop pollination by wild bees strongly depends on suitable land available for nesting and foraging (Koh *et al.* 2016). Though wild bee pollinators are critical for agricultural success (Winfree *et al.* 2011) and native biodiversity (Biesmeijer *et al.* 2006; Brosi and Briggs 2013), there is not much known about pollinator diversity (Koltz *et al.* 2018; Rivers *et al.* 2018).

Natural disturbances are important in many terrestrial ecosystems (Pyne *et al.* 1996; DeBano *et al.* 1998; Bowman and Johnston 2005), particularly in ponderosa pine forests. Fire has been shown to increase understory vegetation cover (Armour *et al.* 1984; Moore *et al.* 2006) in ponderosa pine forests as shown in Chapter 2. High severity wildfires in forested ecosystems, typically classified due to dramatic reductions in tree overstory caused by fire, thus reducing overstory canopy and exposing mineral soil (Keeley 2009), are typically followed by an increase in understory plant species cover (Armour *et al.* 1984; Moore *et al.* 2006; Ellsworth and Kauffman 2010) as demonstrated in the previous chapter. In fire-adapted ecosystems, like ponderosa pine forests, many understory vegetation species have strategies to adapt and compete after the overstory canopy and duff layers are consumed by fire (Bond and Van Wilgen 1996). Thus, there is often a temporary increase in understory plant richness and abundance following wildfires (Keeley 1987; Keeley *et al.* 2003; Dodge *et al.* 2019). The

increase in plant richness and cover caused by fire is expected to have important effects on local pollinators.

Although some bee genera nest above ground in twigs and stems (e.g. *Ceratina*, some *Xylocopa*, *Hylaeus*, and *Chilicola*, some *Megachile* sp.), most bees found in fire-prone areas are non-social (solitary) bees that nest in the ground (Ne'eman and Dafni 1999; Cane and Neff 2011). In order to survive lethal temperatures, nests need to be adequately insulated (Cane and Neff 2011). If nests are under thick litter layers, though, fires can cause the litter layers to smolder, extending the duration of heating on mineral soils (DeBano *et al.* 1979). In general, solitary bees prefer to nest in bare ground or soil banks. Cane and Neff (2011) found that *Osmia lignaria* and *Megachile rotundata* nests that were deeper than 5 cm were able to survive higher temperatures for longer durations. Most solitary bees place nest cells deeper than 10 cm, increasing chances of survival during wildfires. However, survival still depends on fire intensity; the higher the fire intensity, the more likely bee progeny will be killed (Cane and Neff 2011).

Little information is available describing fire effects on bee pollinators, particularly in fire-prone forested ecosystems (Ne'eman and Dafni 1999; Koltz *et al.* 2018; Rivers *et al.* 2018; Galbraith *et al.* 2019). There are no studies looking at long-term effects on bee pollinators in forested ecosystems or studies that correlate flowering plant species with bee pollinator species that I could find, which might have important implications for land managers wanting to rehabilitate burned areas threatened by invasive species.

Objectives

Given the lack of research on pollinator abundance and diversity following fires in ponderosa pine forests and the increase of large, high-severity fires in these habitats (Kaye *et al.* 2005; Fulé *et al.* 2012), the objectives of this study were to use vegetation data collected previously (Chapter 2) in combination with data collected on bees communities to: 1) determine differences in bee, flowering plants (hereafter plants), and flower abundance, richness, diversity, and evenness by summer months (June, July, and August) and by sites burned at high severity and unburned sites; 2) quantify differences in plants, flower, and bee communities (i.e. diversity and each species' abundance) in those same sites; 3) determine if there is a correlation between bee communities and both the plant and flower communities.

Because Burns, OR has rainy springs but hot and dry summers, I hypothesize bee, plants, and flowers will all be more abundant and diverse earlier in the summer than later in the summer, attracting more pollinators in the early summer compared to the late summer. I suspect that the decrease in tree canopy cover in high severity burned sites (as shown in Chapter 2) would allow more sunlight access to understory plants than in unburned sites and therefore high severity burned sites would have higher bee, plant, and flower abundance and diversity than unburned sites. I also hypothesize that the bee community (i.e. abundance and diversity) and the plant/flower community will be strongly correlated, mainly because of their co-dependence on each other, however, I suspect bees would be more attracted to plants with higher proportions of flowers, therefore I suggest the correlation between the bee community and the plant community will be stronger than the correlation between the bee community and the plant community.

Methods

Study Area

The study area was within the Malheur National Forest, approximately 55 km northwest of Burns, OR (43° 52' 50" N, 119° 38' 24" W). The Malheur National Forest occupies 688,000 hectares (ha) in the Blue Mountains of eastern Oregon and includes high desert grasslands, sagebrush (Artemisia spp. L.) steppe and juniper (Juniperus occidentalis Hook.) woodlands, ponderosa pine forests, and mixed conifer forests. Our study focused on the southern ponderosa pine forests of the Malheur National Forest. Mean monthly high temperature in the growing season (May through August) is 26°C and the mean monthly low temperature in winter (November through February) is -8°C. Mean annual precipitation is 279 mm (US Climate Data 2019), with the majority of precipitation accumulated between November and May and with less than 19 mm of precipitation accumulated between June and October. Elevation of study sites ranges from 1506 m to 1755 m above sea level. Common grass species included needlegrass (Achnatherum spp. P. Beauv.), squirreltail (Elymus elymoides (Raf.) Swezey), and Sandberg bluegrass (Poa secunda J. Presl). Forb species included common yarrow (Achillea millefolium L.), blue eyed Mary (Collinsia spp. Nutt.), and willowherb (Epilobium spp. L.). Invasives species included cheatgrass (Bromus tectorum L.), Canadian thistle (*Cirsium arvense* (L.) Scop.), and bull thistle (*C. vulgare* (Savi) Ten.).

Snowbrush ceanothus (*Ceanothus velutinus* Douglas ex Hook.), creeping barberry (*Mahonia repens* (Lindl.) G. Don), and antelope bitterbrush (*Purshia tridentata* (Pursh) DC.) were the most common shrubs within the study area (flowering species are listed in Appendix A).

The Egley Complex, comprised of three lightning-ignited fires, burned approximately 56,802 ha (Figure 3.1) from 7 to 21 July 2007 under low fuel moisture and extreme burning conditions. Burn severity strata were determined by the Monitoring Trends in Burn Severity (MTBS) program (Eidenshink *et al.* 2007), which used a Landsat 5 TM image from July 18, 2006 for the pre-fire image and an image from July 7, 2008 for the post-fire image to calculate dNBR. The dNBR was binned into two classes: unburned (-100 to 99 dNBR) and high (> 450, Eidenshink *et al.* 2007). Sites (n=14), were distributed within the Egley Fire Complex perimeter, either in unburned (n=7) or high severity (n=7) locations constrained by slope, aspect, and older tree age structure and proximity to a navigable road.





Field Procedures

Field sites were established the first week of June and resampled the first week of July and August 2017, ten years post fire. Each site consisted of a central plot and four additional plots situated orthogonally 30 m from the center plot and oriented to the prevailing slope (Figure 3.2). At each field site, two 0.61 m tall shepherd's poles were placed at plot center, each with a Japanese beetle trap, one blue and one yellow (Figure 3.3) and left for six to eight days (Cook *et al.* 2011). On the bottom of one of the two traps, an iButton was mounted on a string, about 0.5 m from the ground, to collect temperature and relative humidity every four hours for each site. Temperature and humidity data considered in the analysis started at 6 am the morning after traps were placed and ended at 9 pm the night before traps were collected.



Figure 3.2. Field site layout (not drawn to scale) used at field sites in 2017



Figure 3.3. Yellow and blue Japanese beetle traps on shepherd's poles

At each site, tree canopy cover was estimated using a convex spherical densiometer facing the four cardinal directions around each plot. Flowering plants were counted at each of the five plots within a fixed radius of $5.6 \text{ m} (1/100^{\text{th}} \text{ of a hectare})$ and identified to species. Because the number of flowers on each plant varied widely, the number of flowers on each plant and number of species within the plot were also recorded (Grundel *et al.* 2010). Among insects collected in the traps, only bees were kept and identified to the finest taxon (family, genus, or species, listed in Appendix B).

Statistical Analysis

Variables collected at all five plot locations per field site were aggregated to the site level. Plant and flower density (plants/ ha, flowers/ ha, respectively) were calculated and used, along with bee counts for abundance and community analyses. An alpha level of 0.05 was set for determining significance in all analyses. Abundance (sum of all specimens for each site) and richness (count of all specimen for each site) were tested by the Lilliefors (Kolmogorov-Smirnov) Test for Normality (Dallal and Wilkinson 1986) and found to be non-normally distributed. Therefore a Kruskal-Wallis test was used to determine differences in abundance and richness among months, and a Dunn's Test was used for pairwise comparisons (Table 3.1). A Kruskal-Wallis test was also used to determine differences in plant, flower, and bee abundance and richness between burned and unburned sites. To maintain trap color pairs per site, a paired Wilcoxon test was used to analyze bee abundance and richness differences between blue traps and yellow traps within each month and within burned and unburned sites within each month (R Core Team 2013).

Objectives	Hypothesis	Analysis
 Determine differences in bee, flowering plants (plants), and flower, abundance and richness by: a) summer month b) burned and unburned (fire) site c) trap color for bees 	 Bee, plants, and flower abundance will be higher in a) early summer months than later summer months b) high severity (burned) sites than unburned sites c) yellow traps than blue traps 	 1a) A Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's pairwise tests among months 1b) A Kruskal-Wallis between burned and unburned 1c) A paired Wilcoxon -paired by trap color
 2) Analyze differences in bee, plant, and flower diversity (both Shannon's and Simpson's) by; a) summer month b) burned and unburned site c) trap color for bees 	 2) Bee, plants and flower diversity will be more diverse a) earlier in the summer than later in the summer b) in burned sites than unburned sites c) in yellow traps than blue traps 	 2a) An ANOVA was used to determine differences in diversity among summer months 2b) A t-test was used to determine differences in diversity between burned and unburned sites 2c) A paired t-test was used to determine differences in diversity between blue and yellow traps
 3) Evaluate differences in bee, flowering plant (plants), and flower community composition by; a) summer month (June, July, and August) b) burned (high severity) and unburned site c) trap color (yellow and blue) for bee communities 	 3) Bee, plant, and flower communities will be more abundant a) earlier in the summer (June) than later in the summer (August) b) in burned sites than unburned sites c) in yellow traps than blue traps 	 3a) An MRBP was be used to determine differences in communities between summer months 3b) An MRPP was used to determine differences in communities between burned and unburned sites 3c) An MRBP was used to determine differences in bee communities and trap colors
4) Determine if the bee community and abundance correlate with plant or flower communities or abundance	4) The bee community will correlate with both the plant and flower communities but more so with the flower community than the plant community	 4) A Mantel test was used to test correlations between the bee community and both the plant and flower communities A Spearman's correlation was used to test correlation between bee abundance and plant and flower abundance

Table 3.1. Objectives, hypothesis, and analysis used for each objective.

To quantify species diversity, Shannon's Diversity (H';Shannon 1949), Simpson's Diversity (D; Simpson 1949), and Pielou's Evenness (E_H ;Pielou 1966) were calculated at the site level. Shannon's Diversity is defined as:

$$H' = \Sigma p_i ln p_i$$

where H is the Shannon Diversity index and p_i is the relative abundance of a species within an area. Simpson's Diversity is defined as

$$1 - D$$

where *D* is the Simpson 'dominance' index. Evenness is defined as:

$$E_H = \frac{H'}{lnS}$$

where E_H is the Pielou species evenness index, H' is the Shannons Diversity index, and S is total species richness in an area. Shannon's Diversity was chosen to determine the diversity of all species found within the study area whereas Simpson's Diversity was chosen as an additional diversity measure to determine the diversity of common species with insensitivity to species richness (Smith and Wilson 1996) within the study area. Shannon Diversity index, Simpson Diversity index, and Pielou's Evenness were tested by the Lilliefors (Kolmogorov-Smirnov) Test for Normality (Dallal and Wilkinson 1986) and found to be normally distributed. An analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to determine differences in both diversity indices and evenness of bees, plants, and flowers among summer months and a student's t-test was used to evaluate diversity differences between burned and unburned sites within each summer month. A paired student's t-test was used to determine differences in bee diversity between trap colors and within burn category, burned and unburned, by month (Table 3.1, R Core Team 2013).

To analyze differences in bee, plant, and flower community compositions among months, a non-parametric blocked multi-response permutation procedure (MRBP) blocked by month with Euclidean distance measure (PC-ORD v.7; McCune and Mefford 2016) was used. An MRBP provides the chance-corrected within-group agreement (A), which is the likelihood of homogeneity within groups that occurs by chance. If A=1, all variables are homogenous within groups, whereas if A < 0, there is more heterogeneity within groups than expected by chance. If A = 0, then heterogeneity within groups equals what was expected by chance (McCune and Grace 2002). A multi-response permutation procedure (MRPP) was used to determine differences between burned and unburned sites within each month. To analyze bee community composition between trap colors while maintaining pairs, an MRBP was used again, this time blocked by trap color, within each month and within burned and unburned sites within each month (Table 3.1).

To determine whether bee abundance correlated with either plant abundance or flower abundance, a Spearman's rank-order correlation was used for total summer abundance and for abundance measured within each month (Table 3.1). For a more in-depth correlation analyses, a Mantel test was used to examine correlations between the bee community (i.e. bee diversity and abundance for each species) and both the plant and flower community for total summer months and each month (R Core Team 2013). The Mantel test is a multivariate statistical analysis method designed to test for correlation between two matrices (Mantel 1967; PC-ORD v.7; McCune and Mefford 2016).

For exploratory analyses, a permutation ANOVA (perMANOVA) was used to test significant interactions of temperature (°C) and humidity (%) between summer months and unburned and high severity burned sites (PC-ORD v.7; McCune and Mefford 2016). Linear regression models were used to predict average monthly temperatures (°C) and average monthly humidity (%) were fit as a function of tree canopy cover (%) measured in June 2017. To determine indicator species among bee, plant, and flower communities for each summer month (i.e. which species indicate certain environmental conditions seen in June, July, and August) and burned and unburned sites (i.e. which species are indicative to burned sites vs unburned sites) were present, an Indicator Species Analysis (ISA) was conducted on bee, plant, and flower species among summer months, burned and unburned sites within each month. An ISA was also conducted on for bee species between trap colors within each month and each burn category within each month to determine if there were bee species indicative to trap color. An ISA calculates the degree to which a species indicates a group based on the species constancy and distribution of abundance. The Dufrêne and Legendre (1997) method of indicator values was chosen because of its ability to analyze quantitative (opposed to binary) data. The significance of indicator values obtained from Dufrêne and Legendre (1997) was evaluated by randomly reassigning sample units to groups and repeated through 4999 Monte Carlo permutations (PC-ORD v.7; McCune and Mefford 2016).

Results

Abundance and richness

There were no differences in bee abundance between summer months but there were significant differences in both plant and flower abundance (both Kruskal-Wallis chi-squared \geq 9.95, both $P \le 0.001$, Figure 3.4), with August having lower plant and flower abundance than June and July (all Z-statistics ≥ 2.46 , all P ≤ 0.014). Bee, plant, and flower richness all differed between summer months (all Kruskal-Wallis chi-squared ≥ 8.96 , all P ≤ 0.011), with August having lower bee (bee: 4.0 ± 0.7), plant (plant: 3.57 ± 0.61 [mean \pm SE]), and flower richness (flower: 6.92 ± 0.89) than both June (bee: 7.64 ± 1.04 ; plant: 8.5 ± 0.84 ; flower: 12.5 \pm 0.84) and July (all Z-statistics \geq 2.46, all P \leq 0.014; bee: 7.29 \pm 0.81; plant: 7.07 \pm 0.79; flower: $11.07 \pm 0.0.79$). Bee and plant abundance did not differ significantly between unburned/burned sites in June or July but were significantly higher in burned sites than unburned sties in August (both Kruskal-Wallis chi-squared \geq 6.36, both P \leq 0.004). Flower density was significantly higher in burned sites than unburned sites in both July and August (both Kruskal-Wallis chi-squared ≥ 6.21 , both P ≤ 0.013). Bee abundance was significantly higher in yellow traps than blue traps in July (w = 14.5, P < 0.001, yellow traps: 16.7 ± 3.29 , blue traps: 4.15 ± 1.01) and August (w = 35.5, P = 0.004, yellow traps: 10.1 ± 2.61 , blue traps: 1.6 ± 0.59). Yellow traps also had higher bee abundance in both unburned and burned sites during both July and August (all $w \ge 2$, all $P \le 0.040$, Figure 3.5, Table 3.2). Plant and flower richness, like abundance, did not differ between unburned/burned sites in June, but were higher in burned sites than unburned sites in July (plants in burned sites: 8.71 ± 0.97 and unburned sites: 5.43 ± 0.97 ; flowers in burned sites 13.0 ± 0.98 , flowers in unburned sites 9.14 \pm 0.7) and August (all Kruskal-Wallis chi-squared \geq 4.50, all P \leq 0.034, plants in burned sites 5.0 ± 0.87 , and unburned sites: 2.14 ± 0.4 ; flowers in burned sites 7.86 ± 1.03 , and unburned sites 5.83 ± 1.47). Bee richness was higher in yellow traps (6.23 ± 0.78) than blue traps (3.69 ± 0.51) in July (w = 39.5, P = 0.021). Yellow traps (7.33 ± 0.71) also had higher bee richness than blue traps (4.5 ± 0.67) in burned sites sampled in July (w = 4, P = 0.029).



Figure 3.4. Abundance of bees (A), plants (B), and flowers (C) during June, July and August. Lower and upper hinge are the 25th and 75th percentile, respectively. Middle hinge is the median. Lower whisker is the smallest observation \geq to lower hinge – 1.5 x (upper hinge – lower hinge) and the upper whisker is the largest observation \leq to upper hinge + (upper hinge – lower hinge). Letters above upper whisker indicate significance of Dunn's pairwise comparisons. Note, plant and flower abundance are shown for 10 m-2 instead of hectares to simplify visualization.



Figure 3.5. Abundance of bees in blue or yellow traps by month (June, July, and August) in unburned (0) and burned (4) sites. Lower and upper hinge are the 25th and 75th percentile, respectively. Middle hinge is the median. Lower whisker is the smallest observation \geq to lower hinge – 1.5 x (upper hinge – lower hinge) and the upper whisker is the largest observation \leq to upper hinge + (upper hinge – lower hinge). Letters above upper whisker indicate significance of pairwise Wilcoxon tests.

Table 3.2. Mean and standard error (SE) bee abundance and richness in blue and yellow traps by month (June, July, and August) in unburned and burned sites and the paired Wilcoxon Rank Sum and Signed Rank test w-statistic and P-value. Boldface denotes significance at the 95 % confidence interval.

		Blue Traps		Yellov	Yellow Traps		Abundance		Richness	
Month	Sites	Mean Abundance (SE)	Mean Richness (SE)	Mean Abundance (SE)	Mean Richness (SE)	W	Р	W	Р	
Juno	Unburned	3.14 (1.53)	2.86 (1.03)	17.57 (6.51)	5.29 (1.61)	10.5	0.080	15.5	0.270	
June Burned	6.5 (1.23)	4.83 (0.31)	12.67 (5.22)	6.17 (1.64)	13	0.468	11.5	0.329		
Inte	Unburned	3.14 (0.99)	3 (0.69)	13.71 (4.92)	5.29 (1.25)	5	0.015	14.5	0.218	
July	Burned	5.33 (1.86)	4.5 (0.67)	20.33 (4.2)	7.33 (0.71)	2	0.013	4	0.029	
A 11 C	Unburned	0.29 (0.18)	0.57 (0.37)	3 (1.05)	1.57 (0.43)	6	0.040	13	0.116	
Aug	Burned	2.86 (1.01)	2.43 (0.75)	17 (3.47)	4.57 (0.75)	2.5	0.006	10.5	0.080	

Diversity

Both Shannon's and Simpson's diversity indices of plants, flowers, and bees differed among months (all F \geq 5.2, all P \leq 0.010), but plants, flowers, and bee evenness did not differ between months. August had lower Shannon's diversity indices for plants, flowers and bees than June and July (all $P \le 0.012$, Table 3.3). Shannon's diversity index for flowers was also lower in July than June (P = 0.15, Table 3.3). Simpson's diversity index for plants, flowers, and bees were also lower in August than in June (all $P \le 0.007$, Table 3.3) and July for bees (P <0.001, Table 3.3). Diversity did not differ between burned and unburned sites except for Shannon's diversity index for plants in August which was higher in burned sites (1.17 ± 0.2) than unburned sites $(0.86 \pm 0.15; t = -2.4, P = 0.035)$ and Shannon's diversity index for bees in June which was also higher in in burned sites (1.78 ± 0.1) than unburned sites (0.95 ± 0.23) ; t = -23.3, P = 0.010). Evenness did not differ among summer months or between burned and unburned sites except for flower evenness in July, which was higher in unburned sites $(0.39 \pm$ 0.06) than burned sites $(0.26 \pm 0.06; t=2.3, P = 0.04)$ and for bees in June which were higher in burned sites (0.74 ± 0.02) than in unburned sites $(0.43 \pm 0.09; t = -2.5, P = 0.043)$. Bee diversity did not differ between trap colors for each month except for Simpson's diversity index in August, which was higher in yellow traps than blue traps (paired t-test, P = 0.018). Bee diversity did not differ between trap colors within burned or unburned sites either except for Simpson's diversity index, which was higher in blue traps than yellow traps in burned sites sampled in August (paired t-test, P=0.004).

Table 3.3. Mean and standard error (SE) of Shannon's diversity index, Simpson's diversity Index and Pielou's evenness measure for flowering plants (plants), flowers, and bees found in June, July, and August.

	Shannon's Index	Simpson's Index	Pielou's Evenness
Month	Mean (SE)	Mean (SE)	Mean (SE)
June	1.32(0.08)	0.63(0.03)	0.69(0.04)
July	1.02(0.13)	0.49(0.05)	0.61(0.05)
Aug	0.53(0.13)	0.37(0.08)	0.48(0.1)
June	1.09(0.1)	0.56(0.04)	0.47(0.03)
July	0.7(0.11)	0.36(0.06)	0.32(0.05)
Aug	0.32(0.08)	0.25(0.07)	0.17(0.04)
June	1.36(0.17)	0.69(0.05)	0.58(0.06)
July	1.28(0.13)	0.6(0.05)	0.57(0.05)
Aug	0.49(0.15)	0.24(0.07)	0.24(0.07)
	Month June July Aug June July Aug June July Aug	Shannon's IndexMonthMean (SE)June1.32(0.08)July1.02(0.13)Aug0.53(0.13)June1.09(0.1)July0.7(0.11)Aug0.32(0.08)June1.36(0.17)July0.49(0.15)	Shannon's IndexSimpson's IndexMonthMean (SE)Mean (SE)June1.32(0.08)0.63(0.03)July1.02(0.13)0.49(0.05)Aug0.53(0.13)0.37(0.08)June1.09(0.1)0.56(0.04)July0.7(0.11)0.36(0.06)Aug0.32(0.08)0.25(0.07)June1.36(0.17)0.69(0.05)July0.49(0.15)0.24(0.07)

Community Composition

All communities differed significantly among summer months (see Table 3.4 for results). Bee community composition did not differ between June and July but did differ between June and August and July and August. Both plant and flower communities differed among all months. Bee communities in burned sites were significantly different than in unburned sites in June (MRPP, P < 0.001, A = 0.167) and August (MRPP, P = 0.002, A = 0.354),) whereas plant communities differed between burned and unburned sites in July (MRPP, P = 0.019, A = 0.132) and August (MRPP, P = 0.002, A = 0.272). Flower communities also differed between burned and unburned sites, although only in August (MRPP, P = 0.007, A = 0.176). Bee communities were significantly different between trap colors within all summer months (all P \leq 0.010, all A \geq 0.11) and within burned and unburned sites (all P \leq 0.029, all A \geq 0.19) except burned sites in June.

Table 3.4. Blocked multi-response permutation procedure (MRBP) results between bee, plant, and flower communities and summer months (June, July, and August). Boldface denotes significance at the 95% confidence interval.

	Bees, A=0.167, P< 0.001		Plants, A=0.103, P< 0.001		Flowers, A=0.098, P< 0.001	
-	А	Р	А	Р	А	Р
June vs July	0.011	0.250	0.088	0.000	0.081	0.003
June vs Aug	0.262	< 0.001	0.098	0.001	0.096	0.001
July vs Aug	0.309	< 0.001	0.055	0.021	0.057	0.019

Correlation among Bees and Plants/Flowers

The bee community (i.e. diversity and abundance for each species) were significantly, though weakly, correlated with both plant and flower communities over all summer months (Mantel, plants; P = 0.002, r = 0.184, flowers; P=0.015, r = 0.102). However, bee communities did not correlate with plant and flower communities within each month. Bee abundance was significantly and strongly correlated with both plant and flower abundance over all summer months (Spearman's Rank Correlation, plants; P < 0.001, rho = 0.527, flowers; P < 0.001, rho = 0.577) and August (Spearman's Rank Correlation, plants; P = 0.003, rho = 0.729, flowers; P = 0.009, rho = 0.672). In June, bee abundance was also significantly and strongly correlated with flower abundance (Spearman's Rank Correlation, P = 0.025, rho = 0.594).

Indicator species analysis

Bee, plant, and flower communities had significant indicator species for each of the summer months (ISA, all $P \le 0.002$). Bee, plant, and flower communities did not have indicator species for burned or unburned sites in June but, plant and flower communities had significant indicator species for burned sites in July (ISA, both P = 0.007), and all communities had significant indicator species for burned sites in August (ISA, all $P \le 0.040$, Table 3.6). There were no indicator species for unburned sites in any of the summer months. The bee community had significant indicator species for yellow traps over the summer (ISA, P < 0.001, Table 3.7). Although there were no significant indicator species for trap colors in June,

both July and August had significant indicator species for yellow traps (ISA, both $P \le 0.016$). There were no indicator species for blue traps for any of the summer months.

	Month	Species	Mean (SE)	Р
	June	Anthophora ssp.	24.7 (7)	0.003
02	June	Habropoda ssp.	10.5 (5.2)	0.032
0.0	June	Lassioglossium ssp.	14.7 (5.94)	0.033
$\mathbf{P}_{=}$	July	Bombus centralis	11.6 (5.69)	0.028
ies,	July	Bombus edwardsii	15.6 (6.44)	0.021
eci	July	Bombus huntii	12.1 (5.78)	0.009
S	July	Osmia ssp.	31.1 (6.08)	0.008
Bee	July	Stelis ssp.	14.3 (5.86)	0.033
· ·	Aug	Melissodes ssp.	33.1 (6.74)	0.001
	June	Antennaria neglecta	10.4 (5.02)	0.028
-	June	Arnica cordifolia	15.9 (6.64)	0.035
001	June	Eriophyllum lanatum	17.4 (6.5)	0.048
.0 ℃	June	Lomatium triternatum	15.6 (6.79)	0.002
, P.	June	Microseris nutans	13.8 (6.22)	0.015
sity	June	Phlox longifolia	10.9 (5.7)	0.028
)en	June	Purshia tridentata	12.9 (5.78)	0.008
nt I	June	Ribes cereum	14.2 (6.1)	< 0.001
2laı	June	Senecio integerrimus	23.8 (7.41)	< 0.001
	July	Antennaria neglecta	34.8 (9.01)	0.004
-	July	Erigeron foliosus	20.7 (6.95)	0.002
	June	Antennaria neglecta	10.4 (5.10)	0.025
01	June	Arnica cordifolia	15.5 (6.41)	0.03
0.0	June	Lomatium triternatum	15.7 (6.94)	0.001
ity P<	June	Microseris nutans	13.9 (6.3)	0.016
	June	Phlox longifolia	11 (5.79)	0.027
ens	June	Purshia tridentata	13.3 (6.16)	0.007
r D	June	Ribes cereum	15 (6.58)	0.001
Me	June	Senecio integerrimus	24.3 (7.69)	< 0.001
Flo	July	Achillea millefolium	36.4 (9.8)	0.001
-	July	Erigeron foliosus	22.1 (7.75)	0.002

Table 3.5. Significant (at the 95% confidence interval) Indicator Species Analysis (ISA) of bees, plants, and flowers between summer months.

	Month	Species	Burn/Unbu rned	Mean (SE)	Р
Bee Species	Aug, P= 0.007	Melissodes	Burned	54 (8.49)	0.002
Plant Species	J_{11} D=0.007	Achillea millefolium	Burned	65 (13.84)	0.020
	July, F=0.007	Erigeron foliosus	Burned	44.9 (12.93)	0.013
	Aug, P=0.040	Achillea millefolium	Burned	57.2 (10.95)	0.001
Flower Species	July, P=0.007	Achillea millefolium	Burned	64.4 (13.43)	0.018
		Erigeron foliosus	Burned	44.6 (13)	0.013
	Aug, P=0.032	Achillea millefolium	Burned	58 (11.22)	0.001

Table 3.6. Significant Indicator Species Analysis (ISA) of bee, plant, and flower communities between burned and unburned sites within each summer month.

Table 3.7. Significant Indicator Species Analysis (ISA) of bee communities between blue and yellow (Y) trap colors within each summer month.

	Species	Trap Color	Mean (SE)	Р
	Halictidae	Y	9.2(2.94)	0.022
Summer	Megachile ssp	Y	9.1(2.81)	0.003
months	Melissodes ssp	Y	26.5(4.79)	0.000
	Osmia ssp	Y	31.8(4.92)	0.002
Juno	Lassioglossum ssp	Y	17.9(6.64)	0.038
June	Osmia ssp.	Y	46.6(9.68)	0.006
	Megachile ssp	Y	17.9(6.4)	0.040
July	Melissodes ssp	Y	17.9(7.12)	0.037
	Osmia ssp	Y	53.2(7.03)	0.000
Aug	Melissodes ssp	Y	42.3(8.24)	0.002

Additional Environmental Variables

All monthly average temperatures (°C) differed significantly among summer months but did not differ between burned or unburned sites or the interactions between summer months and burned/unburned sites except for monthly average minimum temperature, which did differ among burn severity sites (Table 3.8, Figure 3.6). Specifically, the average minimum temperature in June was higher in unburned sites than burned sites (PerMANOVA P=0.0198, Figure 3.6A). Similarly, monthly average humidity differed significantly among summer months but did not differ between burned or unburned sites or among the interactions between summer months and burned/unburned sites except monthly average minimum humidity which had a significant interaction between months and burned/unburned sites (Table 3.8, Figure 3.6). Monthly average minimum humidity in July was significantly higher in high burn severity sites than control sites (PerMANOVA P=0.003, Figure 3.6B) but did not differ between burn severity sites in June or August.



Figure 3.6. Average monthly temperature (A), average monthly max temperature (B), average monthly min temperature (C), average monthly humidity (D), average monthly max humidity (E), average monthly min humidity (F) for 2017 summer months June, July, August. Letters denote significance of Tukey multiple comparisons test between months.

Table 3.8. Permutation ANOVA results showing average monthly temperature and humidity interactions between summer months and burn severity (high severity or unburned sites). Boldface denotes significance at the 95% confidence level.

	Month	Severity	Month: Severity
	Р	Р	Р
Average Temperature (°C)	<0.001	0.169	0.760
Average Max Temperature (°C)	<0.001	0.101	0.425
Average Min Temperature (°C)	<0.001	0.017	0.927
Average Humidity (%)	<0.001	0.115	0.431
Average Max Humidity (%)	<0.001	0.072	0.499
Average Min Humidity (%)	<0.001	0.051	0.030

Linear regression models between monthly average temperatures of summer months and tree canopy cover revealed a significant relationship between canopy cover and June average temperature, but not for July and August (Figure 3.7). Linear regression models between average humidity of summer months and tree canopy had no significant results.



Figure 3.7. Linear regression models predicting percent tree canopy cover as a function of monthly average temperature (°C) for June (A), July (B), and August (C).

Discussion

Seasonality did not affect bee abundance but did affect bee richness and diversity, which decreased as the summer progressed. This indicates that there were fewer bee species present in August compared to June and July but were caught at high abundances. *Melissodes* (n =124 for August out of 163 total), being the only indicator bee species for August, suggests this as well. The strong -within-group agreement among bee communities sampled in August compared to June and July bee communities implies that there was more species overlap in June and July but not between June/July and August. This could be explained by lower bee diversity later in the summer. It is also possible that the bees caught are a poor representation of bees in the area at that time. Cane *et al.* (2000), in creosote bush ecosystems in northwest Arizona, found that pan traps poorly represented bee abundance and diversity in their study area compared to net sampling. Cane *et al.* (2000) suggests that pan traps are less attractive to foraging bees than flowers in the area as well.

Seasonality did affect plant and flower abundance, richness, and diversity, which also tended to decrease as the summer progressed, with August having the lowest plant and flower abundance, richness, and diversity. The higher temperatures seen in August compared to June and July might explain the lower plant, flower, and consequentially bee, abundance, richness, and diversity. Temperatures markedly increased from June to August whereas humidity decreased. It is possible that the higher temperatures and lower humidity later in the summer caused some flowering plant species to senesce. The lack of plant and flower indicator species in August is also indicative of early senescence (McCloud and Berenbaum 2000; Yoshie 2008).

Bee, plant, and flower abundance and richness all tended to be higher in burned sites than unburned sites, though only later in the summer. It could be that the rise in temperatures as the summer progressed caused shade-tolerant flowering species, more commonly found in unburned sites, to senesce earlier than shade-intolerant flowering species, more commonly found in burned sites Most of the flowering plant and flower species analyzed in the ISA were indicative to June, meaning they were found at significantly higher abundances in June compared to July and August. On the other hand, common yarrow (*Achillea millefolium* L.) and leafy fleabane (*Erigeron foliosus* Nutt.) were two flowering species that were indicative to burned sites later in the summer. Common yarrow is a shade-intolerant species (David and Raymond 1939) with late flowering phenology (U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service 1937) so it is not surprising that it was found at higher abundance in burned sites that tended to have less tree canopy cover and higher temperatures. Romme *et al.* (2016) found that climate and substrate were the strongest drivers for understory plant community composition eleven years post-fire in a lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta* Douglas ex. Loudon) forest. However, 25-years post-fire, re-growth of tree canopy was a significant driver for understory plant composition, leading to a decrease of annual plants and shade-intolerant forbs (Romme *et al.* 2016).

Similarly, Galbraith *et al.* (2019), found that fire severity was a strong predictor of bee and plant abundance in a mixed conifer forest of western Oregon. In addition to higher abundance of flowers to forage in severely burned areas ten years after fire, it is possible that the increase in coarse woody debris and more exposed soil found in high severity burned sites (Chapter 2) provided more nesting cavities for bees (E. Gorton Linsley 1958). The majority of bee genera caught in this study were ground nesters, though a few genera have species that nest in twigs and woody debris (E. Gorton Linsley 1958; Cane 1991, Appendix B), and thus would probably greatly benefit from additional debris and exposed soil along with higher flower abundance caused by high severity fire.

Diversity, on the other hand, did not tend to differ between burned and unburned sites, except Shannon's diversity for bees in June and plants in August which were both higher in burned than unburned sites. Shannon's diversity index tends to be more sensitive to rare species, or species measured at lower abundance than Simpson's diversity index (Peet 1974). The lack of significance in plant evenness measures, which accounts for richness, between burned and unburned sites is also an indication that Shannon's diversity is more sensitive to rare species. Though I hypothesized burned sites to have higher bee, plant, and flower diversity, it is not that surprising to see no differences in diversity between burned and unburned sites. This study was conducted ten years post-fire, which likely gave plant species time to either re-sprout post-fire or colonize burned areas (Bond and Midgley 2001; Pausas and Keeley 2014).

Both plant and flower communities differed significantly between each month sampled, however the within group agreement was weak, suggesting flowering plant species were present in at least two of the months sampled, although in different abundance. It was surprising to see differences in bee communities between burned and unburned sites in June with a strong within group agreement, even though there were no differences in abundance or richness found. Because the MRPP analysis incorporates both diversity and abundance, it is possible that diversity explains most of the differences seen between burned and unburned sites, demonstrated by the higher Shannon's diversity and evenness measures for bees captured in burned sites compared to unburned sites in June.

Bee communities differed between yellow and blue traps, especially in burned sites, with yellow traps having higher bee abundance than blue traps, especially in burned sites. Diversity, however, did not differ between trap colors, except Simpson's diversity in August which was higher in yellow traps than blue. Simpson's diversity is more weighted by abundance, which might explain why it was significant and Shannon's diversity did not differ between traps (Peet 1974). Other studies have reported that different trap colors attract different species of bees, especially *Bombus* spp (Cane *et al.* 2000; Cook *et al.* 2011) and sometimes (Cane *et al.* 2000; Cook *et al.* 2011) different sexes (Leong and Thorp 1999). Therefore, even though there were no indicator species for blue traps in this study and more bees were caught in yellow traps, it may still be important to have both colors for abundance and diversity studies.

Though the relationships between bee abundance and both plant and flower abundance were strong, the relationships between the bee community and both the plant and flower community were weak. The weaker relationships between the communities as opposed to the abundance, might be explained by the robustness of the Mantel test. The Mantel correlated each bee species and their abundance to each plant and flower species and their abundance. Therefore, the significant though weak correlation means that the bee community is correlated to both the plant and flower community, though there were few, if any, specialized species present; most bee species were general pollinators. Therefore, if managers were interested in increasing pollinators in the area, there are multiple flowering plant species options to seed and manage.

Conclusion

Though there is an abundance of studies on fire effects on plants, there are limited studies on fire effects on pollinators. This study on long-term fire effects on flowering plants and pollinators demonstrates how bee and plant communities vary over the summer and documents the importance of fire in increasing diversity and abundance within a dry ponderosa pine ecosystem. Given that little information is available on this topic, my study has led to more questions than answers, specifically questions related to short-term fire effects and the effects of low and moderate severity on flowering plants and pollinators. Further research on this topic could improve post-fire recovery efforts and potentially improve the use of native bees on agriculture pollination.

CHAPTER 4: Management Implications

Pre-fire fuel treatments effectively lowered the occurrence of high severity wildfire, likely due to successful reduction of pre-fire tree and sapling density and surface fuels, which supports the implementation of fuel-reduction treatments in dry ponderosa pine forests to reduce high severity wildfire effects. This study also demonstrates the changes in vegetation and fuels from one-year post-fire to nine years post-fire. Further, we suggest that low severity wildfire can meet prescribed fire management objectives of lowering surface fuel accumulations while not increasing overstory tree mortality.

This research provides new information about communities of bees and flowers in burned and unburned dry ponderosa pine forest. Seasonality affected bee, flowering plant, and flower richness and diversity, all of which decreased as the summer progressed. Severely burned sites had higher bee, flowering plant, and flower abundance later in the summer than unburned sites, however there were no differences in diversity suggesting ten years post-fire was an adequate time for bee and plant species to re-colonize burned areas. Furthermore, Japanese beetle traps were found to be a successful alternative to pan traps for collecting bees. Bee abundance was strongly correlated with both plant and flower abundance, though more so with flower abundance.

REFERENCES

- Abatzoglou JT, Williams AP (2016) Impact of anthropogenic climate change on wildfire across western US forests. Proc Natl Acad Sci 113:11770–11775 . doi: 10.1073/pnas.1607171113
- Agee JK, Skinner CN (2005) Basic principles of forest fuel reduction treatments. For Ecol Manage 211:83–96 . doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2005.01.034
- Allen CD, Savage M, Falk DA, Suckling KF, Swetnam TW, Schulke T, Stacey PB, Morgan P, Hoffman M, Klingel JT (2002) Ecological restoration of southwestern ponderosa pine ecosystems: a broad perspective. Ecol Appl 12:1418–1433 . doi: 10.1890/1051-0761(2002)012[1418:EROSPP]2.0.CO;2
- Armour CD, Bunting SC, Neuenschwander LF (1984) Fire intensity effects on the understory in ponderosa pine forests. J Range Manag 37101114:44–49
- Bartuszevige AM, Kennedy PL (2009a) Synthesis of Knowledge on the Effects of Fire and Thinning Treatments on Understory Vegetation in U.S. Dry Forests. JFSP Res Proj Reports 123:
- Bartuszevige AM, Kennedy PL (2009b) Synthesis of knowledge on the effects of fire and thinning treatments on understory vegetation in U.S. dry forests. Corvallis, OR
- Battaglia MA, Smith FW, Shepperd WD (2008) Can prescribed fire be used to maintain fuel treatment effectiveness over time in Black Hills ponderosa pine forests? For Ecol Manage 256:2029–2038 . doi: 10.1016/J.FORECO.2008.07.026
- Bernau CR, Strand EK, Bunting SC (2018) Fuel bed response to vegetation treatments in juniper-invaded sagebrush steppe. Fire Ecol 14:1–13 . doi: 10.1186/s42408-018-0002-z
- Biesmeijer JC, Roberts SPM, Reemer M, Ohlemüller R, Edwards M, T.Peeters, Schaffers AP,
 Potts SG, Kleukers R, Thomas CD, Settele J, Kunin WE (2006) Parallel declines in
 pollinators and insect-pollinated plants in Britain and the Netherlands. Science (80-)
 313:351–354
- Bond WJ, Midgley JJ (2001) Ecology of sperouting in woody plants: the persistence niche. Trends Ecol Evol 16:45–51
- Bond WJ, Van Wilgen BW (1996) Fire and plants. Chapman & Hall, London
- Bowman DMJS, Johnston FH (2005) Wildfire smoke, fire management, and human health. Ecohealth 2:76–80 . doi: 10.1007/s10393-004-0149-8
- Bradley AF, Noste N V., Fischer WC (1992) Fire ecology of forests and woodlands in Utah. Gen Tech Report-INT-287 92
- Brosi BJ, Briggs HM (2013) Single pollinator species losses reduce floral fidelity and plant reproductive function. PNAS 110:13044–13048 . doi: 10.1073/pnas.1307438110
- Brown JK (1974) Handbook for inventorying downed woody material. USDA For Serv Gen Tech Rep INT-16, Intermt For Range Exp Stn 1–24. doi: doi:10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- Cane JH (1991) Soils of Ground-Nesting Bees (Hymenoptera : Apoidea). J Kansas Entomol Soc 64:406–413
- Cane JH, Griswold T, Parker FD (2007) Substrates and Materials Used for Nesting by North American <I>Osmia</I> Bees (Hymenoptera: Apiformes: Megachilidae). Ann Entomol Soc Am 100:350–358 . doi: 10.1603/0013-8746(2007)100[350:samufn]2.0.co;2
- Cane JH, Minckley RL, Kervin LJ (2000) Sampling Bees (Hymenoptera : Apiformes) for Pollinator Community Studies : Pitfalls of Pan- Trapping. J Kansas Entomol Soc 73:225–231
- Cane JH, Neff JL (2011) Predicted fates of ground-nesting bees in soil heated by wildfire: Thermal tolerances of life stages and a survey of nesting depths. Biol Conserv 144:2631– 2636 . doi: 10.1016/j.biocon.2011.07.019
- Caprio A, Haultain S, Keifer M, Manley J (1999) Problem Evaluation and Recommendations: Invasive Cheatgrass (Bromus tectorum) in Cedar Grove, Kings Canyon National Park. Annu Fire Rep Res Monit Invent

Charles D. Michener (2007) The Bees of the World. Johns Hopkins University Press

- Collins BM, Moghaddas JJ, Stephens SL (2007) Initial changes in forest structure and understory plant communities following fuel reduction activities in a Sierra Nevada mixed conifer forest. For Ecol Manage 239:102–111 . doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2006.11.013
- Cook SP, Birch SM, Merickel FW, Lowe CC, Page-Dumroese D (2011) Bumble bee (Hymenoptera: Apidae) community structure on two sagebrush steppe sites in southern Idaho. Pan-Pac Entomol 87:161–171 . doi: 10.3956/2010-31.1
- Coop JD, Parks SA, McClernan SR, Holsinger LM (2016) Influences of prior wildfires on vegetation response to subsequent fire in a reburned Southwestern landscape. Ecol Appl 26:346–354
- Cooper CF (1960) Changes in vegetation, structure, and growth of southwestern pine forests since white settlement. Ecol Monogr 30:129–164
- Covington WW, Moore MM (1994) Post settlement changes in natural fire regimes and forest structure: ecological restoration of old-growth ponderosa pine forests. J Sustain For 2:153–181 . doi: 10.1088/2041-8205/733/2/L36
- Cribari-Neto F, Zeileis A (2010) Beta Regression in R. J Stat Softw 34:1–24
- Crotteau JS, Morgan Varner III J, Ritchie MW (2013) Post-fire regeneration across a fire severity gradient in the southern Cascades. For Ecol Manage 287:103–112 . doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2012.09.022
- Dallal DE, Wilkinson L (1986) An analytic approximation to the distribution of Lilliefors' test for normality. Am Stat 40:294–296
- David C, Raymond P (1939) Weather and Plant-Development Data as Determinants of Grazing Periods on Mountain Range. Washington DC
- DeBano LF, Neary DG, Ffolliott PF (1998) Fire's effects on ecosystems. John Wiley and Sons, New York, New York
- DeBano LF, Rice RM, Conrad CE (1979) Soil Heating in Chaparral Fires : effects on soil properties, plant nutrients, erosion, and runnoff. USDA For Serv Res Pap PSW-145 1–21

Delaplane KS, Mayer DR (2000) Crop Pollination by Bees. CABI

- Dodge JM, Strand EK, Bright BC, Hudak AT, Hammond DH, Newingham BA (2019) Shortand long-term effects of ponderosa pine fuel treatments intersected by the Egley Fire Complex (OR, USA). Fire Ecol Spec Issue (in Rev
- Dodson EK, Fiedler CE (2006) Impacts of Restoration Treatments on Alien Plant Invasion in Pinus ponderosa Forests. J Appl Ecol 43:887–897 . doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2664.2006.01206.x
- Dodson EK, Peterson DW, Harrod RJ (2008) Understory vegetation response to thinning and burning restoration treatments in dry conifer forests of the eastern Cascades, USA. For Ecol Manage 255:3130–3140 . doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2008.01.026
- Dodson EK, Root HT (2013) Conifer regeneration following stand-replacing wildfire varies along an elevation gradient in a ponderosa pine forest, Oregon, USA. For Ecol Manage 302:163–170 . doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2013.03.050
- Dufrêne M, Legendre P (1997) Species Assemblages and Indicator Species : The Need for a Flexible Asymmetrical Approach. Ecol Monogr 67:345–366
- E. Gorton Linsley (1958) The ecology of solitary bees. Hilgardia 27:543–599
- Eidenshink J, Schwind B, Brewer K, Zhu Z-L, Quayle B, Howard S (2007) A project for monitoring trends in burn severity. Fire Ecol Spec Issue 3:3–21
- Ellsworth LM, Kauffman JB (2010) Native bunchgrass response to prescribed fire in ungrazed mountain big sagebrush ecosystems. Fire Ecol 6:86–96 . doi: 10.4996/fireecology.0603086
- Finco M, Quayle B, Zhang Y, Lecker J, Megown KA, Kenneth Brewer C (2012) Monitoring trends and burn severity (MTBS): monitoring wildfire activity for the past quarter century using landsat data. R.S. Morin and G. C. Liknes, compilers. Moving from status to trends: Forest Inventory and Analysis (FIA) Symopsium NRS-P-105, USDA For Serv, Northern Rese Stn, Newtown Square, Pennsylvania, USA

- Finney MA, McHugh CW, Grenfell IC (2005) Stand-and landscape-level effects of prescribed burning on two Arizona wildfires. Can J For Res 35:1714–1722 . doi: 10.1139/X05-090
- Forest Service U (1937) Range plant handbook. U.S. Department of Agriculture, For Serv, Washington, D.C.
- Fulé PZ, Covington WW, Moore MM (1997) Determining reference conditions for ecosystem management of southwestern ponderosa pine forests. Ecol Appl 7:895–908
- Fulé PZ, Crouse JE, Roccaforte JP, Kalies EL (2012) Do thinning and/or burning treatments in western USA ponderosa or Jeffrey pine-dominated forests help restore natural fire behavior? For Ecol Manage 269:68–81. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2011.12.025
- Fulé PZ, Laughlin DC, Covington WW (2005) Pine-oak forest dynamics five years after ecological restoration treatments, Arizona, USA. For Ecol Manage 218:129–145. doi: 10.1016/J.FORECO.2005.07.005
- Fulé PZ, Roccaforte JP, Covington WW (2007) Posttreatment Tree Mortality After Forest Ecological Restoration, Arizona, United States. Environ Manage 40:623–634 . doi: 10.1007/s00267-006-0374-8
- Galbraith SM, Cane JH, Moldenke AR, Rivers JW (2019) Wild bee diversity increases with local fire severity in a fire-prone landscape. Ecosphere 10:e02668 . doi: 10.1002/ecs2.2668
- Gorelick N, Hancher M, Dixon M, Ilyushchenko S, Thau D, Moore R (2017) Google Earth Engine: Planetary-scale geospatial analysis for everyone. Remote Sens Environ 202:18– 27 . doi: 10.1016/j.rse.2017.06.031

Gorte R (2013) The Rising Cost of Wildfire Protection. Bozeman, MT

- Graham RT, Harvey AE, Jain TB, Tonn JR (1999) The effects of thinning and similar stand treatments on fire behavior in western forests. Gen Tech Rep PNW-GTR-463 US Dep Agric For Serv Pacific Northwest Res Stn 27
- Gratkowski HJ (1962) Heat as a factor in gemerination of seeds of Ceanothus velutinus var. leavigatus T. & G. Oregon State University, Corvallis, Oregon, USA

- Groffman PM, Baron JS, Blett T, Gold AJ, Goodman I, Gunderson LH, Levinson BM,
 Palmer MA, Paerl HW, Peterson GD, Poff NL, Rejeski DW, Reynolds JF, Turner MG,
 Weathers KC, Wiens J (2006) Ecological thresholds: the key to successful environmental
 management or an important concept with no practical application? Ecosystems 9:1–13.
 doi: 10.1007/S10021-003-0142
- Grundel R, Jean RP, Frohnapple KJ, Glowacki GA, Scott PE, Pavlovic NB (2010) Floral and nesting resources, habitat structure, and fire influence bee distribution across an openforest gradient
- Hessburg PF, Agee JK, Franklin JF (2005) Dry forests and wildland fires of the inland Northwest USA: Contrasting the landscape ecology of the pre-settlement and modern eras. For Ecol Manage 211:117–139 . doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2005.02.016
- Hille MG, Stephens SL (2005) Mixed Conifer Forest Duff Consumption during Prescribed Fires: Tree Crown Impacts. For Sci 51:417–424
- Holling CS (1973) Resilience and stability of ecological systems. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 4:1-23
- Hudak AT, Morgan P, Bobbitt MJ, Smith AMS, Lewis SA, Lentile LB, Robichaud PR, Clark JT, Mckinley RA (2007) The relationship of multispectral satellite imagery to immediate fire effects. J Fire Ecol 3:64–90
- Hudak AT, Rickert I, Morgan P, Strand EK, Lewis SA, Robichaud PR, Hoffman CM, Holden ZA (2011) Review of fuel treatment effectiveness in forests and rangelands and a case study from the 2007 megafires in central Idaho, USA. Gen Tech Report, Fort Collins, CO RMRS-GTR-2:1–60
- Kalies EL, Yocom Kent LL (2016) Tamm Review: Are fuel treatments effective at achieving ecological and social objectives? A systematic review. For Ecol Manage 375:84–95 . doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2016.05.021
- Kane JM, Varner JM, Knapp EE, Powers RF (2010) Understory vegetation response to mechanical mastication and other fuels treatments in a ponderosa pine forest. Appl Veg Sci 13:207–220. doi: 10.1111/j.1654-109X.2009.01062.x

- Kaye JP, Hart SC, Fulé PZ, Covington WW, Moore MM, Kaye MW (2005) Initial carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus fluxes following ponderosa pine restoration treatments. Ecol Appl 15:1581–1593 . doi: 10.1890/04-0868
- Keane RE, Dickinson LJ (2007) The photoload sampling technique: estimating surface fuel loadings from downward-looking photographs of synthetic fuelbeds. USDA, For Serv RMRS, Fort Collins, CO, Gen Tech Rep RMRO-GTR-190 1–44
- Keane RE, Gray K, Bacciu V, Leirfallom S (2012) Spatial scaling of wildland fuels for six forest and rangeland ecosystems of the northern Rocky Mountains , USA. Landsc Ecol 27:1213–1234 . doi: 10.1007/s10980-012-9773-9
- Keeley JE (2009) Fire intensity, fire severity and burn severity: a brief review and suggested usage. Int J Wildl Fire 18:116–126 . doi: 10.1071/WF07049
- Keeley JE (2006) Fire Management Impacts on Invasive Plants in the Western United States. Conserv Biol 20:375–384 . doi: 10.1111/j. 1523-1739.2006.0033.x
- Keeley JE (1987) Role of Fire in Seed Germination of Woody Taxa in California Chaparral. Source Ecol Ecol 68:434–443
- Keeley JE, Lubin D, Fotheringham CJ (2003) Fire and Grazing Impacts on Plant Diversity and Alien Plant Invasions in the Southern Sierra Nevada. Ecol Appl 13:1355–1374 . doi: 10.1890/02-5002
- Kemp KB, Higuera PE, Morgan P (2016) Fire legacies impact conifer regeneration across environmental gradients in the U.S. northern Rockies. Landsc Ecol 31:619–636 . doi: 10.1007/s10980-015-0268-3
- Kennedy RE, Yang Z, Cohen WB (2010) Detecting trends in forest disturbance and recovery using yearly Landsat time series: 1. LandTrendr - Temporal segmentation algorithms. Remote Sens Environ 114:2897–2910 . doi: 10.1016/j.rse.2010.07.008
- Kennedy RE, Yang Z, Gorelick N, Braaten J, Cavalcante L, Cohen WB, Healey S (2018) Implementation of the LandTrendr Algorithm on Google Earth Engine. Remote Sens 10:691

- Key CH, Benson NC (2006) Landscape assessment: sampling and analysis methods. USDA For Serv Gen Tech Rep RMRS-GTR-164-CD 1–55 . doi: 10.1002/app.1994.070541203
- Kilgore BM (1981) Fire in ecosystem distribution and structure : western forests and scrublands. In: Mooney H, Bonnicksen T, Christensen N (eds) Proceedings of the Conference: Fire Regimes and Ecosystem Properties. USDA Forest Service, General Technical Report WO-GTR-26, pp 58–89
- Kim J, Williams N, Kremen C (2006) Effects of Cultivation and Proximity to Natural Habitat on Ground-Nesting Native Bees in California Sunflower Fields. J Kansas Entomol Soc 79:309–320
- Klein AM, Vaissière BE, Cane JH, Steffan-Dewenter I, Cunningham SA, Kremen C, Tscharntke T (2007) Importance of pollinators in changing landscapes for world crops. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 274:303–313 . doi: 10.1098/rspb.2006.3721
- Knapp EE, Schwilk DW, Kane JM, Keeley JE (2007) Role of burning season on initial understory vegetation response to prescribed fire in a mixed conifer forest. Can J For Res 37:11–22. doi: 10.1139/x06-200
- Koh I, Lonsdorf E V., Williams NM, Brittain C, Isaacs R, Gibbs J, Ricketts TH (2016)
 Modeling the status, trends, and impacts of wild bee abundance in the United States.
 Proc Natl Acad Sci 113:140–145 . doi: 10.1073/pnas.1517685113
- Koltz AM, Burkle LA, Pressler Y, Dell JE, Vidal MC, Richards LA, Murphy SM (2018)
 Global change and the importance of fire for the ecology and evolution of insects. Curr
 Opin Insect Sci 29:110–116 . doi: 10.1016/j.cois.2018.07.015
- Korb JE, Johnson NC, Covington WW (2004) Slash pile burning effects on soil properties, mycorrhizae and plant establishment: Recommendations for amelioration. Restor Ecol 12:52–62
- Lentile LB, Smith AMS, Hudak AT, Morgan P, Bobbitt MJ (2009) Remote sensing for prediction of 1-year post-fire ecosystem condition. Int J Wildl Fire 18:594–608 . doi: 10.1071/WF07091

- Lentile LB, Smith FW, Shepperd WD (2006) Influence of topography and forest structure on patterns of mixed severity fire in ponderosa pine forests of the South Dakota Black Hills, USA. Int J Wildl Fire 15:557–566. doi: 10.1071/WF05096
- Leong JM, Thorp RW (1999) Colour-coded sampling: The pan trap colour preferences of oligolectic and nonoligolectic bees associated with a vernal pool plant. Ecol Entomol 24:329–335. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2311.1999.00196.x
- Littell JS, McKenzie D, Peterson DL, Westerling AL (2009) Climate and Wildfire Area Burned in Western U.S. Ecoprovinces , 1916-2003. Ecol Appl 19:1003–1021
- Mantel N (1967) The detection of disease clustering and a generalized regression approach. Cancer Res 27(2):209–220
- McCloud ES, Berenbaum MR (2000) Effects of spring and summer levels of UV-B radiation on the growth and reproduction of a temperate perennial forb. Plant Ecol 146:61–66
- McCune B (1988) Ecological Diversity in North American Pines. Am J Bot 75:353–368
- McCune B, Grace JB (2002) Analysis of Ecological Communities. MjM Software Design, Gleneden Beach, OR
- McCune B, Mefford MJ (2016) PC-ORD: multivariate analysis of ecological data. MjM Software Design, Gleneden Beach, OR
- McGregor SE (1976) Insect pollination of cultivated crop plants, 496th edn. US Government Printing Office, Washington D.C.
- Metlen KL, Fiedler CE, Youngblood A (2004) Understory response to fuel reduction treatments in the blue mountains of northeastern oregon. Northwest Sci 78:175–185
- Moore MM, Casey CA, Bakker JD, Springer JD, Fulé PZ, Covington WW, Laughlin DC (2006) Herbaceous Vegetation Responses (1992–2004) to Restoration Treatments in a Ponderosa Pine Forest. Rangel Ecol Manag 59:135–144. doi: 10.2111/05-051R2.1
- Morgan P, Hardy CC, Swetnam TW, Rollins MG, Long DG (2001) Mapping fire regimes across time and space: Understanding coarse and fine-scale fire patterns. Int J Wildl Fire 10:329–342 . doi: 10.1071/WF01032

- Ne'eman G, Dafni A (1999) Fire, bees, and seed production in a mediterranean key species salvia fruticosa miller (lamiaceae). Isr J Plant Sci 47:157–163 . doi: 10.1080/07929978.1999.10676768
- Ollerton J, Winfree R, Tarrant S (2011) How many flowering plants are pollinated by animals? Oikos 120:321–326
- Ottmar RD, Leenhouts B, Hardy CC, Peterson JL, Core JE, Seamon P, Achtemeier G, Brenner JD, Ferguson SA, Hermann SM, Jackson B, Lahm P, Leuschen T, Mutch R, Reinhardt TR, Wade D (2001) Smoke management guide for prescribed and wildland fire, 2001st edn. PMS 420-2. NFES 1279, Boise, Idaho
- Packer L (1991) The Evolution of Social Behavior and Nest Architecture in Sweat Bees of the Subgenus Evylaeus (Hymenoptera: Halictidae): A Phylogenetic Approach
- Parsons A, Orlemann A (2002) Mapping post-wildfire burn severity using remote sensing and GIS. In: 2002 ESRI International User Conference. San Diego, CA, pp 1–9
- Passovoy MD, Fulé PZ (2006) Snag and woody debris dynamics following severe wildfires in northern Arizona ponderosa pine forests. For Ecol Manage 223:237–246. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2005.11.016
- Pausas JG, Keeley JE (2014) Evolutionary ecology of resprouting and seeding in fire- prone ecosystems. New Phytol 204:55–65
- Peet RK (1974) The Measurement of Species Diversity. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 5:285–307
- Pena EA, Slate EH (2006) Global Validation of Linear Models Assumptions. J Am Stat Assoc 101:341–354 . doi: 10.1198/01621450500000637
- Pielou EC (1966) Species-diversity and pattern-diversity in the study of ecological succession. J Theor Biol 10:370–383 . doi: 10.1016/0022-5193(66)90133-0
- Praz CJ, Müller A, Danforth BN, Griswold TL, Widmer A, Dorn S (2008) Phylogeny and biogeography of bees of the tribe Osmiini (Hymenoptera: Megachilidae). Mol Phylogenet Evol 49:185–197 . doi: 10.1016/j.ympev.2008.07.005

- Prichard SJ, Peterson DL, Jacobson K (2010) Fuel treatments reduce the severity of wildfire effects in dry mixed conifer forest, Washington, USA. Can J For Res 40:1615–1626 . doi: 10.1139/X10-109
- Pyne SJ, Andrews PL, Laven RD (1996) Introduction to wildland fire. John Wiley and Sons, New York, New York
- R Core Team (2013) R: A language and environment for statistical computing
- Rivers JW, Galbraith SM, Cane JH, Schultz CB, Ulyshen MD, Kormann UG (2018) A Review of research needs for pollinators in managed conifer forests. J For 116:563–572 . doi: 10.1093/jofore/fvy052
- Roccaforte JP, Fulé PZ, Chancellor WW, Laughlin DC (2012) Woody debris and tree regeneration dynamics following severe wildfires in Arizona ponderosa pine forests. Can J For Res 42:593–604 . doi: 10.1139/x2012-010
- Romme WH, Whitby TG, Tinker DB, Turner MG (2016) Deterministic and stochastic processes lead to divergence in plant communities 25 years after the 1988 Yellowstone fires. Ecol Soc Am 86:327–351
- Roulston TH, Cane JH (2000) The Effect of Diet Breadth and Nesting Ecology on Body Size Variation in Bees (Apiformes). J Kansas Entomol Soc 73:129–142
- Savage M, Mast JN (2005) How resilient are southwestern ponderosa pine forests after crown fires? Can J For Res 35:967–977 . doi: 10.1139/x05-028
- Schubert GH (1974) Silviculture of Southwestern Ponderosa Pine: The Status of Our Knowledge. Fort Collins, CO
- Schwilk DW, Keeley JE, Knapp EE, McIver J, Bailey JD, Fettig CJ, Fiedler C, Harrod RJ,
 Moghaddas JJ, Outcalt KW, Skinner CN, Stephens SL, Waldrop TA, Yaussy DA,
 Youngblood A (2009) The national fire and fire surrogate study: effects of fuel reduction
 methods on forest vegetation structure and fuels. Ecol Appl 19:285–304
- Shannon CE (1949) The mathematical theory of communication. Bell Syst Tech J 27:379–423
- Simpson EH (1949) Measurement of Diversity. Nature 163:688 . doi: 10.1038/163688a0

Smith B, Wilson JB (1996) A Consumer's Guide to Evenness Indices. Oikos 76:70-82

- Stephens SL, Collins BM, Roller G (2012a) Fuel treatment longevity in a Sierra Nevada mixed conifer forest. For Ecol Manage 285:204–212 . doi: 10.1016/J.FORECO.2012.08.030
- Stephens SL, Finney MA, Schantz H (2004) Bulk Density and Fuel Loads of Ponderosa Pine and White Fir Forest Floors: Impacts of Leaf Morphology. Northwest Sci 78:93–100
- Stephens SL, McIver JD, Boerner REJ, Fettig CJ, Fontaine JB, Hartsough BR, Kennedy PL, Schwilk DW (2012b) The Effects of Forest Fuel-Reduction Treatments in the United States. Bioscience 62:549–560 . doi: 10.1525/bio.2012.62.6.6
- Stephens SL, McIver JD, Boerner REJ, Fettig CJ, Fontaine JB, Hartsough BR, Kennedy PL, Schwilk DW (2012c) The effects of forest fuel-reduction treatments in the United States. Bioscience 62:549–560 . doi: 10.1525/bio.2012.62.6.6
- Stephens SL, Moghaddas JJ, Edminster C, Fiedler CE, Haase S, Harrington MG, Keeley JE, Knapp EE, McIver JD, Metlen K, Skinner CN, Youngblood A (2009) Fire treatment effects on vegetation structure, fuels, and potential fire severity in western U.S. forests. Ecol Appl 19:305–320 . doi: 10.1890/07-1755.1
- Stephens SL, Ruth LW (2005) Federal Forest-Fire Policy in the United States. Ecol Appl 15:532–542
- Stevens-Rumann CS, Sieg CH, Hunter ME (2012) Ten years after wildfires: How does varying tree mortality impact fire hazard and forest resiliency? For Ecol Manage 267:199–208 . doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2011.12.003
- Swetnam TW, Baisan CH (1996) Historical Fire Regime Patterns in the Southwestern United States Since AD 1700. Fire Eff Southwest For Proc 2nd La Mesa Fire Symp 11–32
- Tependino V (1979) The importance of bees and other insect pollinators in maintaining floral species composition. Gt Basin Nat Mem 3:139–150

- Tinkham WT, Hoffman CM, Ex SA, Battaglia MA, Saralecos JD (2016) Ponderosa Pine Forest Restoration Treatment Longevity: Implications of Regeneration on Fire Hazard. Forests 7:137 . doi: 10.3390/f7070137
- Triplehorn CA, Johnson NF (2005) Borror and DeLong's Introduction to the Study of Insects, 7th edn. Thomson Brooks/Cole, Belmont, CA
- Turner MG, Romme WH, Gardner RH, Hargrove WW (1997) Effects of Fire Size and Pattern on Early Succession in Yellowstone National Park. Ecol Monogr 67:411–433 . doi: 10.1890/0012-9615(1997)067[0411:EOFSAP]2.0.CO;2
- US Climate Data (2019) U.S. Climate Data: Temperature, Precipitation, Sunshine, Snowfall. https://www.usclimatedata.com/climate/burns/oregon/united-states/usor0047. Accessed 19 May 2018
- USDA N (2019) The PLANTS Database. In: Natl. Plant Data Team, Greensboro, NC 27401-4901 USA. https://plants.usda.gov/java/. Accessed 22 Apr 2019
- Vaillant NM, Fites-Kaufman J, Reiner AL, Noonan-Wright EK, Dailey SN (2009) Effectiveness of Fuel Treatments on Fuels and Potential Fire Behavior in California, USA, National Forests. Fire Ecol 5:
- Vakili E, Hoffman CM, Keane RE, Tinkham WT, Dickinson Y (2016) Spatial variability of surface fuels in treated and untreated ponderosa pine forests of the southern Rocky Mountains. Int J Wildl Fire 25:1156–1168 . doi: 10.1071/WF16072
- van Wagtendonk JW, Root RR, Key CH (2004) Comparison of AVIRIS and Landsat ETM+ detection capabilities for burn severity. Remote Sens Environ 92:397–408 . doi: 10.1016/J.RSE.2003.12.015
- Weaver H (1943) Fire as an ecological and Silvicultural factor in the Ponderosa Pine region of the Pacific Slope. J For 41:7–15
- Weiner NI, Strand EK, Bunting SC, Smith AMS (2016) Duff Distribution Influences Fire Severity and Post-Fire Vegetation Recovery in Sagebrush Steppe. Ecosystems 19:1196– 1209 . doi: 10.1007/s10021-016-9994-x

- Westerling AL, Hidalgo HG, Cayan DR, Swetnam TW (2006) Warming and earlier spring increase Western U.S. forest wildfire activity. Science (80-) 313:940–943 . doi: 10.1126/science.1128834
- Winfree R, Gross BJ, Kremen C (2011) Valuing pollination services to agriculture. Ecol Econ 71:80–88 . doi: 10.1016/j.ecolecon.2011.08.001
- Woodall CW, Monleon VJ (2006) Estimating the Quadratic Mean Diameter of Fine Woody
 Debris for Forest Type Groups of the United States. In: Eigth Annual Forest Inventory
 and Analysis Symposium. Research Forester, USDA, Forest Service, Northern Research
 Station, St. Paul, Mn
- Yoder J, Engle D, Fuhlendorf S (2004) Liability, Incentives, and Prescribed Fire for Ecosystem
- Yoshie F (2008) Effects of growth temperature and winter duration on leaf phenology of a spring ephemeral (Gagea lutea) and a summergreen forb (Maianthemum dilatatum). J Plant Res 121:483–492 . doi: 10.1007/s10265-008-0173-9

Month Captured	Functional Group	USDA Code	Species	Common Name
June	Forb	AGRE	Agoseris retrorsa	Spearleaf agoseris
		AGOSE2	Agoserous species	Agoserous
		ANNE	Antennaria neglecta	Field pussytoes
		ARCA7	Arenaria capillaris	Slender Mountain Sandwort
		ASFI	Astragalus filipes	basalt mildvetch
		BASA3	Balsamorhiza sagittata	Arrowleaf balsamroot
		BASE2	Balsamorhiza serrata	Serrate balsamroot
		ERBL	Erigeron bloomeri	scabland fleabane
		FRVI	Fragaria virginiana	Virginia strawberry
		LERE7	Lewisia rediviva	Bitter root
		LIPA5	Lithophragma parviflorum	smallflower woodland- star
		LOTR	Lomatium sp	Biscuitroot
		LOTR2	Lomatium triternatum	Nineleaf biscuitroot
		LUSE	Lupinus silverback	creeping silverback
		MINU	Microseris nutans	Nodding microseris
		PENST	Penstemon sp.	Penstemon
		PHHO	Phlox hoodii	Spiny Phlox
		PHLO	Phlox longifolia	Longleaf Phlox
		SENEC	Senecio sp.	Groundsel
		TAOF	Taraxacum officinale	Common dandelion
		ZIVE	Zigadenus venenosus	Meadow deathcamas
	Shrub	PREM	Prunus emarginata	bitter cherry
		PRVI	Prunus virginiana	Chokecherry
		RICE	Ribes cereum	Wax currant
June - July	Forb	ANPA4	Antenaria parvifolia	small-leaf pussytoes
		ANRO2	Antenaria rosea	rosy pussytoes
		ARCO9	Arnica cordifolia	Heartleaf arnica
		CASTI2	Castilleja sp	Indian paintbrush
		CRAT	Crepis atribarba	Slender hawksbeard
		ERPU2	Erigeron pumilus	shaggy fleabane
		GEVI2	Geranium viscosissimum	Sticky purple geranium
		MARE11	Mahonia repens	creeping Oregon-grape
		POGL9	Potentilla gradulosa	Sticky cinquefoil
		SEIN2	Senecio integerrimus	Lambstongue ragwort

APPENDIX A Flowering plant species found in Malheur National Forest. Codes are from the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) plants data base (USDA, NRCS. 2019)

	Shrub	CEVE	Ceanothus velutinus	Snowbrush ceanothus
		PUTR2	Purshia tridentata	Antelope bitterbrush
June - August	Forb	PEDE4	Penstemon deustus	scabland penstemon
June-Aug	Forb	ACMI2	Achillea millefolium	Common yarrow
July	Forb	ALLIU	Allium sp.	Onion
		APCA	Apocynum cannabinum	Indian hemp
		ARSO2	Arnica soria	twin arnica
		COGR4	Collimia grandiflora	giant blue-eyed Mary
		CRAC2	Crepis acuminata	Tapertip hawksbeard
		DENU2	Delphinium nuttallianum	Twolobe larkspur
		ERFO2	Erigeron foliosus	leafy fleabane
		ERTE6	Erigeron tener	slender fleabane
		ERIOG	Eriogonum sp.	Buckwheat
		PEHU	Penstemon humilis	low beardtongue
		PESE12	Penstemon seorsus	shortlobe penstemon
		PHHE2	Phacelia heterophylla	varileaf phacelia
		SESE2	Senecio serra	senecio serra
		UCAR	Unknown caryophyllaceae	
		ULYC	Unknown Litter	Yellow
July - August	Forb	ERHE2	Erioginum heracloides	parsnipflower buckwheat
		ERLA6	Eriophyllum lanatum	common wooly sunflower
		FRAL2	Frasera albicaulis	whitestem frasera
	Invasive	VETH	Verbascum thapsus	Common mullein
August	Forb	CHAN9	Chamerion angustifolium	Fireweed
		CIUN	Cirsium undulatum	Wavyleaf thistle
		ERFI2	Erigeron filifolius	Flett's fleabane
		EREL5	Erioginum elatum	tall wooly buckwheat
		HISC2	Hieracium scouleri	Scouler's woollyweed
		SOLID	Solidago sp.	Goldenrod
		UNKAR	Unknown Arnica	

Flowering plant species found in the Malheur National Forest and when they were flowering. Codes are from the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) plants data base (USDA, NRCS. 2019).

Month Captured	Family	Species	Nesting Style
June	Anthophoridae	Habropoda ssp	Ground vi
	Apidae	Bombus bifarius nearcticus	Ground/burrow vii
		Bombus morrisoni	Ground/burrow vii
		Bombus occidentalis	Ground/burrow vii
		Bombus vosnesenskii	Ground/burrow vii
	Megachilidae	Anthidum ssp.	Ground/above-ground/wood vii
	-	Dianthidium ssp.	Ground/above-ground/wood vii
June - July	Apidae	Bonbus rufocinctus	Ground/burrow vii
5	Megachilidae	·	
	C .	Ashmeadiella ssp.	Ground/nest cavities/wood vii
		Heriades ssp.	Ground/nest cavities/wood vii
		Hoplitis ssp.	Cavity ^{vi}
		Stelis ssp.	Ground/nest cavities/wood vii
June - Aug	Anthophoridae	Epeolus ssp.	
June - Aug	Andrenidae	1 1	Ground/burrow vii
C	Anthophoridae		
	1	Anthophora ssp.	Ground vi
		Melissodes ssp.	Ground ^{ii, vi}
	Apidae	Bonbus edwardsii	Ground/burrow vii
	Halictidae		
		Agapostemon ssp.	Ground ⁱⁱ
		Halictus ssp.	Ground ^{iv}
		Lassioglossum ssp.	Ground ^{iv, vi}
	Megachilidae	Megachilie ssp.	Ground/ cavity vi
	C	Osmia ssp.	Wood/stems ^v , above ground ⁱ
July	Apidae	Bombus ssp.	Ground/burrow vii
	-	Bombus appositus	Ground/burrow vii
		Bombus centralis	Ground/burrow vii
		Bombus crotchii	Ground/burrow vii
		Bombus huntii	Ground/burrow vii
July A	Amidaa	Bombus californicus	Ground/burrow vii
July – August	Аріаае	consanguineus	
August	Apidae	Bombus fervidus	Ground/burrow vii

APPENDIX B Bee species captured in the Malheur National Forest.

The table shows the bee species captured in the Malheur National Forest, which month bees were captured in the summer of 2017, and their nesting style.

ⁱ (Cane *et al*. 2007)

ⁱⁱ (Charles D. Michener 2007) – Tribe level nesting information

ⁱⁱⁱ (Kim et al. 2006)

^{iv} (Packer 1991)

^v (Praz et al. 2008)^x Praz et al 2008

vi (Roulston and Cane 2000)

^{vii} (Triplehorn and Johnson 2005) * Family level nesting information for *Megachilidae*, genus level nesting information for *Bombus* spp